# EUR 5033 e

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

## RADIOTOXICITY OF TRITIUM IN MAMMALS

Critical analysis of the extrapolation to man of the results of tritium incorporation into animal tissues

by

G. SILINI, P. METALLI and G. VULPIS

1973



Report prepared by CNEN
Comitato Nazionale per l'Energia Nucleare
Centro di Studi Nucleari della Casaccia
Laboratorio di Radiobiologia Animale
Rome — Italy

**EURATOM Contract No 059-71-11 PSTI** 

#### LEGAL NOTICE

This document was prepared under the sponsorship of the Commission of the European Communities.

Neither the Commission of the European Communities, its contractors nor any person acting on their behalf:

make any warranty or representation, express or implied, with respect to the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of the information contained in this document, or that the use of any information, apparatus, method, or process disclosed in this document may not infringe privately owned rights; or

assume any liability with respect to the use of, or for damages resulting from the use of any information, apparatus, method or process disclosed in this document.

This report is on sale at the addresses listed on cover page 4

at the price of B.Fr. 50,-

Commission of the European Communities D.G. XIII - C.I.D. 29, rue Aldringen Luxembourg

This document was reproduced on the basis of the best available copy.

#### EUR 5033 e

## RADIOTOXICITY OF TRITIUM IN MAMMALS by G. SILINI, P. METALLI and G. VULPIS

Commission of the European Communities
Report prepared by CNEN
Comitato Nazionale per l'Energia Nucleare
Centro di Studi Nucleari della Casaccia
Laboratorio di Radiobiologia Animale, Rome (Italy)
Euratom Contract No 059-71-11 PSTI
Luxembourg, December 1973 — 36 Pages — BF 50

Basic data relative to tritium, its physicochemical behaviour in environment, its major sources of contamination and its metabolism through the mammalian organisms are reviewed.

#### EUR 5033 e

### RADIOTOXICITY OF TRITIUM IN MAMMALS by G. SILINI, P. METALLI and G. VULPIS

Commission of the European Communities
Report prepared by CNEN
Comitato Nazionale per l'Energia Nucleare
Centro di Studi Nucleari della Casaccia
Laboratorio di Radiobiologia Animale, Rome (Italy)
Euratom Contract No 059-71-11 PSTI
Luxembourg, December 1973 — 36 Pages — BF 50

Basic data relative to tritium, its physicochemical behaviour in environment, its major sources of contamination and its metabolism through the mammalian organisms are reviewed.

#### EUR 5033 e

## RADIOTOXICITY OF TRITIUM IN MAMMALS by G. SILINI, P. METALLI and G. VULPIS

Commission of the European Communities
Report prepared by CNEN
Comitato Nazionale per l'Energia Nucleare
Centro di Studi Nucleari della Casaccia
Laboratorio di Radiobiologia Animale, Rome (Italy)
Euratom Contract No 059-71-11 PSTI
Luxembourg, December 1973 — 36 Pages — BF 50

Basic data relative to tritium, its physicochemical behaviour in environment, its major sources of contamination and its metabolism through the mammalian organisms are reviewed.

After considering the radiotoxicity of tritium particularly at the cellular and whole-body level the conclusion is drawn that the major uncertainties regard the fraction of tritium incorporated into the nuclei of some tissues. This fraction is eliminated very slowly and is capable of modifying the genetic structures of the nucleus. A more refined analysis of radiobiological phenomena and a better knowledge of the dose effect relationship should permit the extrapolation of the data to the low doses of tritium contamination. This extrapolation is of great interest in the field of public health for the elaboration of the relevant radio-protection standards.

After considering the radiotoxicity of tritium particularly at the cellular and whole-body level the conclusion is drawn that the major uncertainties regard the fraction of tritium incorporated into the nuclei of some tissues. This fraction is eliminated very slowly and is capable of modifying the genetic structures of the nucleus. A more refined analysis of radiobiological phenomena and a better knowledge of the dose effect relationship should permit the extrapolation of the data to the low doses of tritium contamination. This extrapolation is of great interest in the field of public health for the elaboration of the relevant radio-protection standards.

After considering the radiotoxicity of tritium particularly at the cellular and whole-body level the conclusion is drawn that the major uncertainties regard the fraction of tritium incorporated into the nuclei of some tissues. This fraction is eliminated very slowly and is capable of modifying the genetic structures of the nucleus. A more refined analysis of radiobiological phenomena and a better knowledge of the dose effect relationship should permit the extrapolation of the data to the low doses of tritium contamination. This extrapolation is of great interest in the field of public health for the elaboration of the relevant radio-protection standards.

## EUR 5033 e

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

## RADIOTOXICITY OF TRITIUM IN MAMMALS

Critical analysis of the extrapolation to man of the results of tritium incorporation into animal tissues

bу

G. SILINI, P. METALLI and G. VULPIS

1973



Report prepared by CNEN
Comitato Nazionale per l'Energia Nucleare
Centro di Studi Nucleari della Casaccia
Laboratorio di Radiobiologia Animale
Rome — Italy

**EURATOM Contract No 059-71-11 PSTI** 

#### **ABSTRACT**

Basic data relative to tritium, its physicochemical behaviour in environment, its major sources of contamination and its metabolism through the mammalian organisms are reviewed.

After considering the radiotoxicity of tritium particularly at the cellular and whole-body level the conclusion is drawn that the major uncertainties regard the fraction of tritium incorporated into the nuclei of some tissues. This fraction is eliminated very slowly and is capable of modifying the genetic structures of the nucleus. A more refined analysis of radiobiological phenomena and a better knowledge of the dose effect relationship should permit the extrapolation of the data to the low doses of tritium contamination. This extrapolation is of great interest in the field of public health for the elaboration of the relevant radio-protection standards.

#### **KEYWORDS**

TRITIUM COMPOUNDS
METABOLISM
DOSIMETRY
RBE
CONTAMINATION
MAMMALS
MPC
INTERNAL RADIATION
CHROMOSOMAL ABERRATIONS
LET
RADIATION DOSES
RADIOECOLOGICAL CONCENTRATION
INGESTION
DRINKING WATER
RADIATION HAZARDS
MUTATION FREQUENCY

GENETIC RADIATION EFFECTS
DELAYED RADIATION EFFECTS
REVIEWS
CRITICAL ORGANS
INTAKE
ANIMAL CELLS
BODY FLUIDS
EXCRETION
BIOCHEMICAL REACTION KINETICS
COSMIC RADIATION
ENVIRONMENT
DOSE-RESPONSE RELATIONSHIPS
TISSUES
THYMIDINE

# CONTENTS

													1	
PREFA	ACE				٠								•	5
	NTRODUCTION		•										*	
1 — II	NTRODUCTION				•	٠.	•		•		•		•	7
2 6	ENEDAL DATA ON TRITILIM													7
	ENERAL DATA ON TRITIUM													
2.	1 Physical data		•		٠		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	7
2.	2 Physiochemical behaviour								•	•	• .			8
2.	3 Sources of tritium													8
	2.3.1 Natural sources													8
	2.3.2 Artificial sources				•		٠	•	•	•	•	•		9
2.	4 Tritium transfer paths				•									10
3 — T	RITIUM METABOLISM IN MAMMAL	S			•									11
3.	1 Intake routes													11
	3.1.1 Absorption of gaseous tritium													11
	3.1.2 Absorption of tritiated water													11
	3.1.3 Absorption under other forms		•		٠		•	٠	•	•	٠	•		12
3.	2 Movement of tritium through the body f													12
	3.2.1 Plasma													12
	3.2.2 Extracellular and intracellular fluids 3.2.3 Cellular components													13 13
3.	3 Excretion paths													13
	3.3.1 Excretion kinetics in laboratory anii 3.3.2 Excretion kinetics in man													13 14
3.	4 Incorporation of tritium into cellular com 3.4.1 Experimental data													14 15
	3.4.2 Incorporation mechanisms													15
	5.112 Interpolation internations		•		•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	10
4 — R	ADIOTOXICITY OF TRITIUM IN MA	MMAL	S.										_	16
	1 Premises													16
4.	2 Toxicity of tritiated water													17 17
	4.2.1 Toxicity at the cellular level 4.2.2 Toxicity at the organ and whole-bo													18
Á	•	-												
4.	3 Toxicity of tritiated thymidine 4.3.1 Mutagenic effects													19 19
	4.3.2 Chromosomal aberrations													20
				-			-							

	4.4	4.3.4 Organ and organism toxicity	20 21 22 22
5 —	DO	OSIMETRIC CONSIDERATIONS	23
	5.1	5.1.1 Fundamental dosimetric relationships	23 23 24 25
	5.2	5.2.1 Linear energy transfer	25 26 27 29
6 —	CO	NCLUSIONS	30
	6.1	6.1.1 Current tritium levels and future production	30 30 31 32
	6.2	The needs for future research	34

#### PREFACE

By the end of this century the quantities of tritium likely to be discharged to the environment are expected to be greater than those released at present. The pressing need to produce more electrical energy by nuclear power plants as well as the greater use of organic compounds containing tritium may result in increased contamination hazard of man and the environment.

Because of the complexity of its distribution in biological structures, the true nature of the risks the tritium represents is problematic and therefore it is relatively difficult to establish a dose-effect relationship which could serve as a basis in determining tolerance levels for the environment and maximum permissible doses for man. Numerous experiments have already been conducted on the contamination by tritium and its incorporation into animal tissues.

The Commission has asked Professor Silini and his team to prepare an analytical and critical study of current knowledge on tritium and to consider possible ways of extrapolating to man results of experimental toxicology.

Professor Silini has provided us with an excellent report which fulfils the proposed objective; it not only clarifies a number of previously obscure points on tritium metabolism, but also gives a list of topics which may serve as guide-lines for the new research projects which should be undertaken in this particularly complex field.

We wish to thank the authors of this report which, it is hoped, contains also the latest information on methods of dosimetry for organisms exposed to tritium contamination and thus constitutes an important contribution towards better understanding of specific problems of radiological protection connected with the presence of tritium in the environment.

Dr. P. RECHT
Director of the Health and Protection Directorate

#### 17.7

 $+2 \mathbb{I}_{2} + (-1) +$ 

the constraint of the constraint of

The constraint of the constraint of the people of the people of the end of the engine partition of explaint of the people of the end of the people of the people of the end of the end of the people of the constraint of the end of the constraint of the end of the constraint of the end of the end

#### 1 — INTRODUCTION PROGRAM

Tritium has long been considered one of the less dangerous radionuclides because its radiation energy is relatively low so that the risk of external exposure is fairly remote and because the initial experiments on animals showed a relatively short biological half-life of the isotope and did not detect any obvious harmful effects in animals exposed to high doses of tritiated water. However, later experiments showed that an appreciable quantity of the isotope (a few per cent) administered under the form of tritiated water, was incorporated into the various components of the cell and subsequently eliminated with a half-life of the order of one-third (as a maximum) of the life of the animal. At present there is no clear proof that this tissue contamination can cause functional damage in exposed animals; but, there is likewise no justification for absolutely excluding the possibility of such damage. It is known that the presence of tritium into a number of nuclear constituents (although at much higher levels of incorporation) by the administration of tritiated thymidine can cause radiobiological lesions of a somatic or genetic nature and it is reasonable to expect that similar effects may be produced at lower concentrations (these effects then being proportionally less marked) or by the absorption of tritium through other forms.

Tritium is being produced in increasing quantities by power reactors and, although chronic or accidental contamination at present involves a relatively small number of people exposed to levels of less than the mCi down to the nCi, it is likely that the number of persons at risk will increase as a result of the presence of new nuclear reactors. Nuclear explosions are also a source of tritium contamination and this form of contamination could significantly increase if nuclear devices would be extensively used in civil engineering. Amongst the radionuclides having biological significance, tritium, like <sup>14</sup>C, is of particular importance because it is the isotope of one of the major constituents of organic substances, water and mineral salts, and this is reflected in the widespread use of tritium as a tracer in biology and medicine. The use of tritium labelled compounds for medical and research purposes is therefore another possible source of contamination, although at present this use appears to be adequately controlled.

Since it seems justifiable to assume that all these potential sources of contamination are likely to increase considerably in the future, it is important to examine the available data on the contamination by and toxicity of tritium, their significance for the protection of man and his environment and the need for further research in order to provide an accurate evaluation of the associated hazards. This, briefly, is the purpose of the present report.

#### 2 — GENERAL DATA ON TRITIUM

#### 2.1 — Physical data

Tritium is the radioisotope of mass 3 of hydrogen. Its nucleus, consisting of one proton and two neutrons, carries a positive charge which is balanced by the negative charge of the orbiting electron. The bond between the nuclear components in this isotope is relatively weak and the nucleus is therefore unstable. Tritium decays according to a typical beta decay pattern to the stable isotope <sup>3</sup>He by the emission of negative electrons of varying energy up to 0.018 MeV (mean energy: 0.0057 MeV). The physical half-life of tritium is 12.26 years. The maximum range of beta radiation from tritium is about 5 mm in air. In materials of unit density the maximum

range is about  $6 \,\mu\text{m}$  (0.6 mg/cm<sup>2</sup>), whereas the mean range is 0.56  $\mu$ m (0.056 mg/cm<sup>2</sup>). 50% of the beta radiation from tritium is absorbed in a layer of the same material about 0.4  $\mu$ m thick. The energy of the bremstrahlung radiation in biological materials is  $2.5 \times 10^{-4}$  keV.

1 g of tritium is equivalent to about  $9.7 \times 10^3$  Ci and 1 g of tritiated water is equivalent to  $2.9 \times 10^3$  Ci. 1 cm<sup>3</sup> of gaseous tritium at normal temperature and pressure corresponds to 2.86 Ci and 1 mm<sup>3</sup> of tritiated water corresponds to about 2.92 Ci. 1 g of material uniformly labelled with tritium and having a specific activity of 1 mCi/g will receive a dose of about 12.14 rad/hr (see para. 5.1.1) (Feinendegen, 1967).

#### 2.2 — Physiochemical behaviour

Since the mass of tritium is three times greater than that of hydrogen, there are distinct isotopic effects between the two nuclides, at least when the isotopic bond is directly involved in the chemical reaction (primary isotopic effect); these effects are less evident when the mass of the isotope indirectly influences the reaction through the steric conditions of the molecule (secondary isotopic effect).

The covalent C<sup>3</sup>H bond is energetically more stable than the corresponding bond between carbon and hydrogen. The secondary intermolecular H-H bonds are more stable when tritium is involved and the substitution of H<sup>3</sup>H bonds for H-H bonds may thus have a considerable effect on the tertiary structure and activity of proteins.

It is therefore clear that biochemical reactions directly or indirectly involving hydrogen bonds can be modified by the presence of tritium substituting for hydrogen. This explains the widespread distribution of tritium and deuterium in the various tissue components (Eidinoff et al., 1953; Siri and Evers, 1962; Eidinoff, 1963).

#### 2.3 — Sources of tritium

Tritium may be present in nature or produced as an artificial radionuclide.

#### 2.3.1 — Natural sources

Tritium of cosmic origin is present in the atmosphere and is produced by the action of the various components of cosmic radiation, in particular high-energy protons (Fireman and Rowland, 1954), on nitrogen and hydrogen atoms in the upper atmosphere or by the action of neutrons of 4.4 MeV on <sup>14</sup>N, which is converted into <sup>12</sup>C according to the reaction

$$^{14}N(n, ^{3}H)^{12}C$$
 (2.1)

Atmospheric tritium is oxidized to tritiated water and is bound to aerosol particles (Perkins and Nielsen, 1965). It is carried into the biosphere by rain, snow or by deposition of dry or wet aerosols. Solar emmission may also be a source of atmospheric tritium (Craig, 1957). It has been calculated that the production of tritium of cosmic origin is 0.2 atoms/cm<sup>2</sup>/s (Craig, 1957).

Natural tritium may also be produced on the earth's surface and this may explain the presence of  ${}^{3}$ He which is its disintegration product (see para. 2.1) in the lower atmosphere. Tritium may be produced in rocks by reactions of the  $(\alpha, n)$  type from natural uranium or thorium. The neutrons emitted by these reactions may, in turn, interact with lithium according to the reaction

$$^{6}\text{Li}(n,\alpha)^{3}\text{H}$$
 (2.2)

to give rise to tritium (Kaufman and Libby, 1954). According to these authors, a bed of igneous

rock with a thickness of 1 km could provide  $10^{-3}$  atoms of tritium per cm<sup>2</sup> per second, and this rate of production is therefore considerably lower than that due to cosmic radiation.

#### 2.3.2 — Artificial sources

In addition to the reactions (2.1 and 2.2) mentioned above, tritium may be produced artificially by the following main reactions (Evans, 1966; Charamantieu, 1968)

the continuency of the second continuency

$$^{2}H(d, p)^{3}H$$
 (2.3)

$$^{2}H(n, \gamma)^{3}H$$
 (2.4)

$$^{3}\text{He}(n, p)^{3}\text{H}$$
 (2.5)

Little information appears to have been published on the release of and contamination by tritium as a result of nuclear explosions. It has been calculated, however, that the quantity of tritium produced under these conditions is of the order of 0.7 Ci per kiloton (Vaubert and Bittel, 1970). Recent estimates (Miskel, 1971) show the direct production of tritium by nuclear devices to be  $1.4 \times 10^{17}$  atoms of tritium per kiloton of fission and  $1.4 \times 10^{23} - 1.0 \times 10^{24}$  atoms of tritium per kiloton of fusion, not including the production due to the interaction of neutrons or charged particles from the nuclear device with the environment. Nuclear explosions conducted under the Plowshare programme could be a further source of tritium, of the order of 12 Ci/kT (Lessler *et al.*, (1971).

Varying quantities of this isotope are produced by nuclear reactors, depending on the reactor type (Bramati, 1964, Jacobs, 1968; Weaver et al., 1969). Power reactors produce about 50 mCi of tritium per MW per day by reactions of the  $(n, \alpha)$  type on <sup>6</sup>Li contained as an impurity in fuels; the tritium thus produced remains however, in the fuel, provided that there is no leakage. Under normal conditions this tritium is subsequently released into the environment during the reprocessing of the fuel (Charamantieu, 1968), either under the form of gas or (in greater quantities) in solution. During these operations the tritium follows the same fate as nitric acid, in that the removal of the latter from the effluents also removes most of the tritium contamination. In the 1980's a number of reprocessing plants will be in operation, each of which will be capable of processing up to 0.6 MCi/year, and it is therefore important to pay close attention to these plants (Kouts and Long, 1971).

In reactors moderated and/or cooled with heavy water, tritium is produced by  $(n, \gamma)$  reactions on deuterium (see reaction 2.4). It is mostly combined with oxygen but may be present in the primary circuit as gaseous tritium or tritiated water vapour.

In reactors which are moderated and cooled with natural water there is a low rate of production of the isotope by reactions 2.2 and 2.4, which occur with the lithium impurities and the natural deuterium in the water, respectively. The introduction of lithium or boron compounds to control the neutron flux or to avoid corrosion may lead to an increase in tritium production.

In graphite-moderated reactors cooled with CO<sub>2</sub> or air, there are considerable quantities of the isotope in the graphite. A tabulation produced by Kouts and Long (1971) showed that the annual production of tritium from reactors of industrial significance (either in operation or in the design stage) is 16-45 kCi/1000 MW, except in the case of liquid-sodium breeder reactors in which annual production is increased by a factor of 10. Thermonuclear reactors will produce 10<sup>5</sup> times more tritium (per MW) than fission reactors, which will pose more problems with containment.

Tritium can also be prepared intentionally on a large scale in reactors by the action of neutrons on alloys of lithium and light metals, from which the isotope can subsequently be separated by acid treatment and used as a raw material for thermonuclear experiments (Evans, 1966).

Contamination measurements carried out in the vicinity of nuclear reactors have indicated the presence of low, but nevertheless significant, level of tritium contamination (Haney et al.,

1962; Evans, 1967; Hatch et al., 1970; Aurand et al., 1971). Uniform contamination of plant and animal tissues at the site of nuclear explosions has also been demonstrated (Koranda, 1967; Martin and Koranda, 1971).

Tritium may also be produced in the vicinity of accelerators, especially neutron generators of the Cockroft-Walton type, in which tritiated targets (metallic or gaseous) are bombarded with protons or deutons. With metal targets tritium has been produced in the gaseous state at rates of the order 1 Ci/hr of operation. The problem of contamination appears to be less serious, however, in accelerators of the Van de Graaf type (Nellis *et al.*, 1967).

The quantity of tritium present on the earth in 1969 was estimated at around 1700 MCi, of which 70 MCi was attributed to natural sources and the remainder to artificial reactions, in particular thermonuclear experiments (Weaver et al., 1969). According to a study published in 1968 (Cowser and Tadmor, 1968) of the likely increase in major sources of tritium up to the year 2000, it is estimated that the total activity of natural tritium may by then have reached a level of the order of 10<sup>7.5</sup> Ci (this estimate is comparable with the estimate mentioned above), the activity due to nuclear tests may be of the order of 10<sup>8</sup> Ci and that due to industrial sources 10<sup>9</sup> Ci. These figures are, of course, subject to variations owing to the actual increase in the number of power reactors in the future and to the development of thermonuclear energy sources (Rose, 1970), which are still difficult to forecast.

#### 2.4 — Tritium transfer paths

In the first place, it is necessary to take into account that the slight temperature gradient in the stratosphere gives the masses of air a high degree of stability, whereas in the troposphere the steep gradient gives rise to strong currents. Considering further that the concentration of water vapour is relatively high and the precipitation-evaporation cycle is short, there is a high degree of dilution and rapid precipitation of the radioactive residues on the ground. The exchange mechanisms of the tritium are, however, essentially different in the two zones.

In the atmosphere the transfer paths of tritium have been studied by tracing the pollution from the stratosphere in which tritium is accumulated following H-bomb explosions (Suess, 1969). The movement of tritium from the stratosphere to the troposphere was found to be sufficient to maintain in the latter a fairly constant concentration of the isotope, although there has been a tendency for this concentration to fall in recent years (Stewart and Wyerman, 1970), in spite of the deposition on the soil by rain-out. In the northern hemisphere tritium rain-out exhibits a peak in spring coinciding with the increase in rainfall. The concentration of atmospheric tritium is greater over the continents than over the oceans, since the atmospheric humidity is more stable over the land than over the sea. The exchange of tritium following its release from gaseous effluents has been dealt with exhaustively in the literature (Chamberlain and Eggleton, 1962).

Tritium concentrations in continental and oceanic waters, both at the surface and at depth, are much lower than rainfall concentrations (Theodorsson, 1967). The problem of transfer of tritium in continental waters as a function of their temperature requires, has been studied by Roether (1967) and the problems of its accumulation in lakes (Peterson et al., 1969) and rivers following the immission by contaminated effluent (Parker, 1958; Jacobs, 1968) have also been dealt with in detail. Since 1970 a tritium contamination monitoring system has been in operation in the United States. Data relating to concentrations in atmospheric precipitations, continental surface waters and drinking water are available in Radiation Data and Reports (1972). As regards oceanic waters, studies of tritium movements as a function of temperature gradients have shown that tritium circulation below the thermocline is extremely slow (Libby, 1962; Bainbridge, 1963; Suess, 1969). Tritium levels in marine organisms in contaminated areas have also been studied (Koranda, 1965).

The absorption (Charreau and Jacquinot, 1967), diffusion (Stewart, 1965) and rate of migration of tritium in the *soil* in relation to similar parameters for water have been studied for a long time, in terms of the chemical composition of the soil (mainly acid clays) (Corey and Horton, 1968; Stewart, 1965), under experimental laboratory conditions and in field experiments. An up-to-date critical bibliography of publications on the movement of tritium in ecological systems can be found in Koranda and Martin (1971). A compilation of data relating to tritium concentrations, estimates of production, dose to the population, etc., which are of importance for the purpose of environmental protection, has been prepared by Terpilak *et al.* (1971).

#### 3 — TRITIUM METABOLISM IN MAMMALS

#### 3.1 — Intake routes

Tritium can be absorbed by experimental animals and by man under the form of a) gas or b) tritiated water or c) by the absorption of artificially labelled compounds or d) by the absorption of radioactivity in contaminated environments. The first two forms of exposure (gas or tritiated water) may be suffered as a result of accidents during the operation of nuclear reactors, during the reprocessing of fuel or during the preparation of labelled compounds. The number of persons at risk in these cases might total some tens of thousands, but the contamination levels can be, and have been, fairly high (up to 1 mCi of tritium/kg).

#### 3.1.1 — Absorption of gaseous tritium

Since tritium is easily adsorbed onto metallic surfaces which become contaminated, it can be absorbed as a gas through the *skin* by contact with such surfaces. This route of contamination has been studied on animals (Hutchin and Vaughan, 1965) in which the tritium can be recovered initially as free tritiated water. Within 24 hours about 10% of the absorbed radioactivity has been incorporated in the tissues and is therefore recoverable only as catabolic water. Within about one month the level of tritium in the skin has fallen to about 1% of the initial value and appears to be bound to cellular components. Tritiated water released by the skin is eliminated with the urine.

This mode of contamination is not a very widespread or dangerous one, since it cannot give rise to the absorption of high levels of radioactivity.

Gaseous tritium may also be inhaled through the *lungs* and a small proportion of this, of the order of 10<sup>-3</sup>, may be absorbed and oxidized to tritiated water (Pinson and Anderson, 1950; Rarrick, 1967).

#### 3.1.2 — Absorption of tritiated water

The absorption of the isotope under this form is extremely rapid and takes place through the skin, lungs or gastrointestinal tract (Pinson and Langham, 1957; Osborne, 1966).

Tritiated water may be absorbed through the *skin* in the form of water vapour or liquid water. In the first case (Pinson and Langham, 1957) the exposure of the hands or forearms results in a level of contamination which is a function of the skin temperature and the rate of transpiration, in that a high temperature increases the absorption and perspiration decreases it. The absorption of tritium through the skin as tritiated water depends on the same parameters (Pinson and Langham, 1957).

The absorption of tritiated water vapour through the skin is so effective that, when a man is exposed to an atmosphere containing HTO, the absorption by this route is equivalent to the absorption through the lungs and is of the order of  $10 \,\mu\text{Ci/min}$ . for each  $\mu\text{Ci/litre}$  of air for each

route (Pinson and Langham, 1957). Percutaneous absorption corresponds to a volume of water equal to the volume of normal transpiration. In contrast with the process in which the water is actively excreted by the sudoriferous glands, the elimination of water by normal transpiration is a reversible diffusion process and the absorption of HTO vapour represents the intake phase of this process.

The absorption of tritiated water through the *lungs* is also to a reversible diffusion process and, considering that the surface area for pulmonary exchange is about 50 times greater than that for cutaneous exchange (Werbel, 1963), it is possible to calculate that percutaneous absorption is considerably more efficient. This is probably due to the fact that the alveolar surface is covered with water in which the inhaled vapour is diluted and this reduces the specific activity of the absorbed water. This phenomenon does not occur on the dry skin and therefore the reduction in specific activity in the lungs counterbalances the difference in area through which the absorption occurs (De Long *et al.*, 1954).

The ingestion of tritiated water through the *intestinal tract* (Pinson and Langham, 1957) leads to a rapid movement of the isotope into the blood with equilibrium being reached in less than an hour, even for quantities of ingested liquid of the order of one litre. The activity eliminated through the urine varies with blood concentration. The ingestion of non-tritiated water after contamination leads to a reduction of the biological half-life, which is therefore a function of the ingested water. For an uptake of water *ad libitum* in man, the half-life varies from 9-13 days.

#### 3.1.3 — Absorption under other forms

The uptake of tritium-labelled compounds by laboratory staff by ingestion, injection, inhalation or accidental contamination of the skin represents a possible hazard, even if this is fairly remote. The number of persons at risk (particularly young adults) is estimated at present to be of the order of the tens of thousands and is bound to increase with the increasing use of labelled compounds in medicine, biology and other industrial applications. This route of contamination does not present special problems as regards the mechanisms of absorption. It should be mentioned, however, that the injection of water or other tritiated compounds in animal experiments is the most widespread form of contamination since it is independent of absorption mechanisms and allows accurate dosage schedules and balances.

The possible risk of chronic uptake of tritium, especially through the ingestion of food or water (Mogissi and Liebermann, 1972) originating from a contaminated environment, has not been the subject of special studies. However, in view of the efficiency with which tritium is bound in the photosynthesis process (see para. 3.4.2), this is a route of contamination which may be significant for the ingestion of tritium in higher animals and in man in special cases. Actually, although the body burden could not be much higher than one nCi/kg, the number of persons at risk in this case could be very large, perhaps of the order of hundreds of thousands of individuals in all age groups.

#### 3.2 — Movement of tritium through the body fluids

#### 3.2.1 — Plasma

Regardless of the form under which the tritium is taken in, it is rapidly oxidized to tritiated water (HTO) and is first diluted uniformly in the blood plasma within a maximum time of 10 minutes after, for example, intravenous injection. It may however be assumed that the time required to reach maximum concentration in the blood may vary according to the intake route (corresponding to various rates of absorption) and on the exposure time. It may also be assumed that, for a route of entry other than intravenous injection, the concentration reaches an extended

plateau rather than a peak value. If equilibrium is rapidly reached between intravascular, extracellular and intracellular water, one may also assume that the tritium concentration in the urine is a reasonable indicator of its concentration in the blood; on this basis, studies of tritium concentrations in the urine indicate that the plateau value for concentration in the blood is reached within a maximum of 2 hours after, for example, percutaneous absorption (Osborne, 1966).

#### 3.2.2 — Extracellular and intracellular fluids

Being a reversible process, the passage of tritiated water from the blood plasma to the extracellular liquids is an extremely complex phenomenon (Moore, 1962), at least in the case of intestinal intake. In spite of the large pool of extracellular fluids including, in this particular case, the intestinal content, the lymph, the intestinal fluids, the cerebrospinal fluid, etc., the passage is rapid and has an apparent half-life of the order of 12 minutes (Pinson and Langham, 1957). The passage from the extracellular fluids and to intracellular water is also rapid, but is even more complex since it requires active and/or passive transfer mechanisms, varying from one tissue to another. In a particularly simple case, such as the passage from the plasma to the intracellular water in erythrocytes, equilibrium is achieved within times of the order of 10 minutes (Moore, 1962); in tissues where the rate of exchange is low (bone, cartilage), however, the process probably requires much longer times. It would appear that, after exposure of the order of one hour, the radioactivity is in most cases uniformly distributed throughout the organism within the total free water within the first 24 hours (Woodard, 1970).

#### 3.2.3 — Cellular components

A small but significant proportion of the tritium originating from tritiated water is incorporated into relatively stable biochemical components of the cell and is excreted with a half-life which in some cases can be extremely long. Refer to para. 3.3 and 3.4 for a discussion of these phenomena.

#### 3.3 — Excretion paths

Most of the tritium absorbed by mammals and oxydized to tritiated water is excreted with half-lives of the order of a few days, mainly through the urine. Other excretion routes may be perspiration, skin desquamation and hair loss, faeces, water vapour in the expired air, milk, etc.

#### 3.3.1 — Excretion kinetics in laboratory animals

A large number of studies have been conducted on various laboratory animals (guinea pigs rabbits, goats, cows), but mainly on the rat and the mouse, since 1951 (Thompson, 1951, 1952, 1953; Pinson, 1952; Thompson and Ballou, 1954 a) and b), 1956; Lambert and Clifton, 1967; Vennart, 1969; Sanikidze and Romanovskaya, 1970; Wheeler et al., 1972). Analyses of tritium present in the animal under the form of free tritiated water, carried over a sufficient period of time after a single injection of tritiated water, have shown that the radioactivity disappears according to very complicated kinetic patterns. In the mouse and the rat it has been possible to demonstrate three main kinetics lasting 1-3 days, about 10 days and about 70 days, respectively. The specific activity of tritium in the free water and the urine between 10 and 20 days is higher than the specific activity of the tritium present in tissues. This indicates that the slow reduction in tissue specific activity is related to the renewal time of the biological compounds which the tritium has been incorporated and from where it is released by catabolism of the labelled molecules. Following chronic administration of tritiated water (Thompson and Ballou, 1956)

the tritium is excreted with half-lives the order of 3, 22 and 130 days; the tissues which take up the isotope most slowly are also those which eliminate it most slowly, thus confirming the previous conclusion. For a complete tabulation of the tritium excretion constants under various conditions and in various conditions and in various animals, see Elwood (1971) and Bennett (1972).

#### 3.3.2 — Excretion kinetics in man

Studies conducted on people who had suffered accidental contamination have shown that in man the rate of excretion in the urine which, as we have seen, is reasonably representative of the concentration in the body fluids (see para. 3.2) follows an exponential pattern immediately after intake. The half-lives are about 9 days, with wide variations between individuals (between 2.4 and 18 days); among the same individuals there are also variations other than those relating to time. Excretion in the urine is increased when diuresis is stimulated, when the subject is kept at high ambient temperatures but in good fluid balance, and when the subject is young (Pinson and Langham, 1957; Butler, 1962; Wylie et al., 1963; Snyder et al., 1964; Butler and Leroy, 1965; Sadarangani et al., 1971).

Where the degree of contamination has been less than 1 mCi, it has been possible to trace the tritium concentration in the urine for about one month without detecting any variation in the slope of the excretion curve. In other cases in which larger amounts of radioactivity have been involved, bi-phasic excretion curves have been found (Snyder et al., 1964) with half-lives of about 9 and 34 days, or even tri-phasic curves with half-lives of 8, 20 and 400 days, respectively (Sanders and Reinig, 1967). In two cases described by Moghissi et al., (1971) the half-lives of the intermediate phase and the long phase were 21-33, and 280-2020 days, respectively. The long excretion phases are presumably due to the loss of tritium initially incorporated into slowly renewing cellular components and released subsequently by the metabolism of these tissues.

Considering the wide variety of mechanisms by which the tritium in tritiated water can first be incorporated into and then lost from the various tissues, it is reasonable to assume that the half-lives given above for the various components of the excretion curves do not represent simple phenomena but are the result of a large number of different mechanisms related to the metabolism and to the cell and tissue kinetics, the average rate of these processes being approximately within the indicated limits. In addition, it is interesting to note that the mean excretion constants found in man compare fairly well with those in experimental animals, bearing in mind the more rapid renewal of cellular components in the shorter-lived animals.

#### 3.4 — Incorporation of tritium into cellular components

Since the tritium is distributed as tritiated water in the free water compartment which represents about 60% of the weight of a mammalian organism, and since this tritiated water is excreted very rapidly (1-3 days and about 10 days for rodents and man, respectively, are the mean half-lives of the initial component of the excretion curves, see para. 3.3), the ICRP has tended to regard the water in the body as the only significant compartment and thus to recommend permissible concentrations based on these assumptions (ICRP, 1959). Nevertheless, the studies referred to in para. 3.3.1 have shown that a proportion, though small, of the radioactivity is distributed and incorporated into various tissues from which it is released according to complex kinetic patterns and in some cases with very low rates. A complete tabulation of the mean biological lives of tritium in body water and tritium bound to organic compounds in various animals is given by Elwood (1971). An up-to-date critical discussion of the metabolic exchanges of tritium in man (mainly under the form of tritiated water) was included in a recent review by Osborne (1972).

#### 3.4.1 — Experimental data

Studies of the incorporation into tissue of tritium from tritiated water, are 'carried out by endoperitoneal or intravenous injection in single or multiple doses or by administration in drinking water. The maximum doses used in these studies were  $86 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$  of body weight for injection and  $4 \,\mu\text{Ci/ml}$  in drinking water. The contaminated animals are then venally sacrificed, samples are taken of various tissues and dried; the distillation water collected and its tritium content is a measure of the radioactivity contained in the free water in that tissue. The various samples of dried tissue are then incinerated and new radioactivity measurements carried out on the combustion water. This radioactivity is representative of the tritium combined with the various organic molecules. A similar procedure is also followed for chronic administration. The data currently available on various experimental animals can be summarized as follows (Thompson, 1951, 1952, 1953; Thompson and Ballou, 1954 a) and b); 1956; Lambert and Clifton, 1967; Vennart, 1969; Hatch and Mazrimas, 1972):

A CAR CAR CAST

- (1) 24 hours after a single injection of tritiated water, the amount of tritium incorporated in the tissues by exchange or by the normal metabolic pathways is of the order of 7% of the injected dose, of which 1.5% is metabolically bound (Siri and Evers, 1962). The liver contains radioactivity mainly under the form of glycogen and lipids.
- (2) In the mouse after about 10 days the levels of specific activity of tritium in the free water and of the tritium incorporated into the tissue components are usually inverted, in that the level of tritium present in the tissue components is higher than that bound to water (Thompson 1952).
- (3) The biological half-lives of the two fractions are different, since the tritium present in the free water decreases to 50% within little more than one day, whereas the tritium bound in tissue components decreases in two stages with half-lives of 9 and 90 days, respectively (Thompson, 1952).
- (4) Between 30 and 50 days after acute or chronic exposure, the amount of tritium incorporated into the tissues is relatively small (of the order of 1.4% to 1.1%, respectively) and most of this is contained in the slow-reversing tissues (brain, muscle, skin) (Pinson and Langham, 1957). Similar values have also been found in larger animals (Potter *et al.*, 1971).
- (5) The tritium incorporated after chronic exposure is excreted according to three rates with mean lives of about 3, 22 and 130 days. Excretion is slowest for tissues in which incorporation is slow (Thompson and Ballou, 1956).
- (6) Biopsies on skin and fat tissue taken from a man who was chronically exposed to tritiated water for 8 months showed a stable incorporation of tritium into cellular components (Pinson et al., 1952).
- (7) In all the observed cases no radiobiological damage attributable to tritium, either immediate or delayed, has been observed in spite of the relatively high doses (86  $\mu$ Ci/g of body weight for injection, or 4  $\mu$ Ci/ml in drinking water).

#### 3.4.2 — Incorporation mechanisms

After the administration of tritiated water, the tritium may replace hydrogen bound to tissue components in two ways: by *exchange* between hydrogen and tritium in an existing compound which is therefore unstably and reversibly labelled; or by stable *incorporation* into a molecule during its biosynthesis.

The exchange between tritium in water and the unstable hydrogen of the organic compounds takes place very rapidly and depends, since the reaction is reversible, on the specific activity of the tritium in the water and the solute, respectively. Many of the reactions used for the preparation of labelled organic molecules, including the Wilzbach reaction, are not relevant to *in vivo* systems (Evans, 1966; Feinendegen, 1967). In general it is considered that the hydrogen

atoms bound to oxygen, nitrogen, sulphur or phosphorus exchange readily with tritium present in the water where the compound is dissolved, whereas hydrogen bound to carbon is not exchangeable (Jones, 1965; Von Hippel and Printz, 1965; Feinendegen, 1967). The hydrogen bonds in DNA or RNA molecules and the covalent bonds in the peptide group are considered to be unstable and therefore readily replaceable.

As regards the *incorporation* into organic molecules at the time of their synthesis, it is possible to distinguish two mechanisms. The first is the incorporation of tritium into *plant tissues* by normal processes of photosynthesis in which the water is the only source of hydrogen. In this case it is relatively simple to identify the reactions which bring about the incorporation of tritium and it has been shown that the subsequent movement of the isotope along the metabolic chain is very rapid with the appearance of labelled amino acids only a few minutes after exposure to tritium (Moses and Calvin, 1959).

The incorporation of tritium into organic molecules of higher animals is considerably more complex and has been discussed in detail by Feinendegen (1967) and Smith and Taylor (1969). There are generally a large number of metabolic pathways by which the tritium can be incorporated into proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and nucleic acids, starting from a medium containing tritiated water. Many of these reactions have been shown to occur in vitro and in vivo. It should be noted, however, that these reactions do not all have equal significance for radiation protection, since it is likely that tritium incorporated into a compound with a short half-life (such as a dextrose molecule) will be excreted more rapidly, whereas tritium incorporated into ribose, and especially into desoxyribose of nucleic acids, will exchange more slowly and therefore is more likely to give rise to radiobiological effects. The same can be said of the lipids, in which the rate of exchange depends to a great extent on the state of nutrition.

As already stated in para. 3.3.2, the complexity of these exchanges and reactions must be borne in mind in interpreting the kinetics of incorporation and excretion of tritium in the body.

From the point of view of environmental protection, it is interesting to note that the available data on concentration factors in food chains, which are also of interest for man, are relatively few. Hatch and Mazrimas (1972) found ratios of specific activity between tritium bound to organic molecules and tritium in free water which varied between 1.1 and 1.9. Bogen et al., (1971) found that the same ratio could vary from 1.2 and 5.6 in a series of popular foods.

#### 4 — RADIOTOXICITY OF TRITIUM IN MAMMALS

#### 4.1 — Premises

The first studies on the radiotoxicity of tritium were conducted in the 1950's when the development of reactors made it necessary to investigate the somatic risk of tritiated water. When widespread use was later made of a number of tritiated precursors of DNA as tracers, the problem of the toxicity of tritium also extended to these compounds and it became possible to investigate harmful genetic effects.

In the interest of clarity, this report subdivides the treatment of the two categories of tritiated compounds considered (tritiated water and tritiated thymidine) into different levels of biological organization: cell, tissue, organ and organism. This subdivision, of course, only represents a system of ranking and the interdependence of the various subdivisions will be made clear in section 5.

Since the purpose of the present report is to analyse the possibility of extrapolation to man of results obtained experimentally, this study will be restricted to experiments on mammals. Data referring to other living systems are mainly relevant for radioecology and their significance for human protection is only of an indirect nature.

7

#### 4.2 — Toxicity of tritiated water

The intake of tritium as tritiated water by the absorption pathways illustrated above (see para. 3.1.2) is considered to be the most common source of contamination for man, and particular attention will therefore be paid to experiments conducted with tritiated water.

บอฟได้ เรื่องนี้สายเพื่อได้ เป็นสายเกราะ

#### 4.2.1 — Toxicity at the cellular level

For obvious reasons of experimental convenience, the cells in culture are a favoured biological system for these studies. From the qualitative point of view, the effects of tritium on the cells are identical to those encountered when the culture receives external irradiation and consist in a loss of the reproductive capacity of the cells (followed by various other effects at the population level), in an increase of the cell cycle time and a decrease of the population doubling time and in the appearance of chromosome aberrations. For what concerns the mechanisms of action, the targets of the radiobiological effects, the dependence of these effects on physical, chemical and biological factors, the results of tritium irradiation are not significantly different from those brought about by external X or gamma irradiation. The quantitative aspects of these phenomena are, on the contrary, of paramount importance and they relate to the magnitude of the effects as a function of the absorbed dose, of the specific ionization of the tritium beta radiation, of the effectiveness relative to other standard radiations. The reaction mechanisms, the site of radiant action, the interdependence of the various effects and the action of tritium on the cultures do not differ significantly from those encountered in X or gamma radiation. The important factor is, however, the quantitative aspect of these phenomena (absorbed dose, difference in specific ionization of the tritium beta radiation relative to other radiations and, consequently, the difference in its relative biological effectiveness.

At a concentration of tritiated water of 1 mCi/ml of culture medium (therefore a dose rate of the order of 12 rad/hr, see para. 2.1), the proliferation of HeLa cells is considerably reduced (Nias and Lajtha, 1964) and the growth of the population stops on the fourth day of treatment; if the concentration of the isotope is reduced to one-tenth, however, the same effect is observed on the ninth day. In similar experiments conducted on cell cultures of a heteroploid strain of human origin (Fraccaro et al., 1966) it was possible to reduce the rate of growth with dose rates in excess of 30 rad/day (which would correspond, according to formula 5.1, to a concentration of about 0.1 mCi/ml of culture liquid) on the sixth day from the beginning of treatment. The growth of cells treated with 300 rad/day, on the other hand, ceased on the third day of treatment. In all these cases, the overall effects were observed on cell populations under artificial conditions of continuous growth, and they included a large number of primary effects (chromosome aberrations, delayed mitosis, inhibition of the reproductive capacity). These results may nevertheless be of some use for the purposes of radiation protection; for example, they indicate that the doses necessary to produce serious and reproducible effects of this type are about 10 orders of magnitude greater than the tritium concentrations now present in the biosphere (Radiation Data and Reports, 1972).

Some experiments conducted by Colvin and Everts (1971), in which two luminous compounds activated with tritium were administered via the percutaneous route to Chinese hamsters, are of particular interest to environmental protection. Although the results do not allow precise quantitative conclusions in the form in which they were presented, they show nevertheless that tritium is taken in by this route and, within 30 days after administration, may produce a significant increase (3-6 times) in the number of cells carrying various types of chromosome aberrations in primary lung and kidney cultures.

Not surprisingly, in view of our general radiobiological knowledge, the literature contains no data on possible metabolic alterations in mammalian cells as a result of irradiation with tritiated water.

The toxicity of tritium administered I.P. or I.V. as tritriated water is most evident in the tissues which renew themselves rapidly (haematopoietic organs, intestine, testes) self-reversing, fast-cycling tissues. Myelolymphoid aplasia develops for doses between 0.2 and 1.4 mCi/g (Furchner, 1957). There is no clear distinction between bone-marrow and intestinal death, probably because the radiation dose due to tritium is never delivered acutely.

Lesions of the bone marrow shown by a depression of incorporation of <sup>59</sup>Fe into the circulating blood have been observed in rats (Furchner *et al.*, 1953; Storer *et al.*, 1957) after injection of tritiated water.

Atrophy of the spleen and thymus in the mouse (Worman, 1954; Storer et al., 1957) and in the rat (Moskalev et al., 1970) following the administration of tritiated water have also been used quantitatively in studies of relative biological effectiveness. These studies have demonstrated that tritium has a higher biological effectiveness than gamma radiation in producing such lesions (see para. 5.2.3) by factors of the order of 1.3-1.6. The tritium concentrations at which very harmful or lethal effects are encountered in vivo are of the same order of magnitude as those necessary to obtain comparable effects in vitro.

Clinical and pathological diagnoses carried out on two subjects whose work involved exposure to luminous compounds activated with tritium (Seelentag, 1971) are particularly significant. In the first case, a man who had been exposed to levels of activity estimated at approx. 2500 Ci/year in the last six years before his death, the diagnosis was panmyelophthisis. In the second case, also involving a man who was exposed for three years before retiring from work (followed, one year later, by death) to a level of activity estimated at several thousand Ci per year, the diagnosis was chronic aplastic anaemia.

As regards testicular lesions, Lambert (1969) studied the loss of reproductive capacity of intermediate spermatogonia into primary spermatocytes in mice treated with tritiated water in doses up to 40  $\mu$ Ci/g, and concluded that cellular death occurred within 4 days after treatment even with doses lower than 2  $\mu$ Ci/g. The tritiated water and the X-ray doses necessary to obtain an identical effect are 20  $\mu$ Ci/g and 30 rad, respectively. The fact that lower doses also produce this effect is probably due to the high sensitivity of the spermatogonia, even compared with external irradiation, to interphase death mechanisms.

The criterion most often used to study effects on the entire organism has been the lethal dose at 30 days. After injecting scalar doses of tritiated water Brues *et al.* (1952) estimated an  $LD_{50/30}$  in the mouse of 1 mCi/g of body weight. This does not differ substantially from the  $LD_{50/30}$  of approx. 1 mCi/g estimated for the same animal by Trujillo *et al.* (1955) after endoperitoneal injection and is close to the estimate of 1.45 mCi/ml of body water which was the  $LD_{50}$  obtained for pulmonary administration of tritium in gaseous form. In these latter experiments no acute histological lesions of the lungs were detected at a dose to the lungs calculated at approx. 135 000 rep although, in the absence of direct observations, one cannot exclude the appearance of delayed effects in these organs following such high doses of tritium. A higher effectiveness compared with gamma radiation was also found at the whole-body level of tritium (Brues *et al.*, 1952; Furchner, 1957) (see para. 5.2.3).

A comparison of the sensitivity of various animal species of animals was given by Zhuravlev (1971) and it was found that dogs have a high sensitivity to tritium oxide, probably due to differences in the repair capacity of haematopoiesis.

Information on delayed effects is very scanty and, under these circumstances, negative results may also be of some interest. Mice and rats fed for about six months on a diet containing tritiated water with a specific activity of  $5 \mu \text{Ci/ml}$  (Thompson and Ballou, 1956) tolerated the treatment; similarly, no somatic damage was detected in man about two years after acute exposure to concentrations of tritiated water of the order of 1 mCi/kg of body weight (Snyder *et al.*, 1964;

Sanders and Reinig, 1967). No macroscopic evidence of harmful radiation effects was observed in a population of *Dipodomys merriami* after several generations in an environment contaminated with tritium such that the activity of the body water and tissues was 0.1-0.4  $\mu$ Ci/g (Hatch *et al.*, 1970). No increase in the death rate or in the induction of tumours up to the age of 27 months was found in mice which had received 15  $\mu$ Ci/g of tritiated water at birth (Baserga *et al.*, 1966). It must therefore be concluded that single doses of tritiated water of the order of  $10^{-2}$  or  $10^{-3}$  of the lethal acute dose have given little or no evidence of somatic damage.

As regards the study of the effects on the foetus, Moskalev et al. (1969) reported that tritiated water administered to pregnant rats in doses of the order of 0.08-3 mCi/g led to typical vascular lesions (ædema, hematoma) in the mother, the placenta and the foetus. At higher dosage levels a prenatal mortality rate of 80% is reached, due mainly to intrauterine implantation defects.

In recent experiments (Cahill and Yuille, 1970) rats were kept during pregnancy at constant levels of tritiated water ranging between 1 and  $100 \,\mu\text{Ci/ml}$  of body water corresponding to dose rates in the embryo and the foetus of 0.3-30 rad/day. The effects observed were extremely heterogeneous, based on biometric measurements at birth, sterility and the induction of tumours in the adult up to a maximum of 270 days of life. The authors' conclusions indicate that significant effects are not produced by continuous exposure to tritiated water during pregnancy at doses of 1  $\mu$ Ci/ml, whereas higher concentrations produce distinct effects on the gonads and the brain which appear in the form of atrophy and sterility in the first case, and microcephaly in the second.

A particular problem connected with the effects on the foetus is that of the incorporation of tritium in the oöcytes of female foetuses, which do not divide until the time of sexual maturity. Under these conditions the tritium incorporated during foetal life remains in the nuclei of these cells for very long periods, of the order of the entire reproductive life of the animal. This gives rise to radiation protection problems and difficulties in dose calculations which will be dealt with in more detail in para. 5.2.3.

No data whatever are available concerning the genetic effects on the germinal cells of mammals due to tritium in the water or food (Russel and Cumming, 1971), although there is reason to presume that damage of this type may occur since a small proportion of the tritium ingested in this form is stably incorporated into the genetic structures (Hatch and Mazrimas, 1972).

#### 4.3 — Toxicity of tritiated thymidine

The radiation damage caused by tritium present in the thymidine molecule, and as such preferentially incorporated into DNA, is essentially a damage to the genetic structures. At the sub-cellular level this consists in mutations and chromosomal aberrations, which are well established. At higher levels or organization various lesions may occur; although none of these seems to be typical of this isotope, the degree of such lesions as a function of dose is, in our opinion, of considerable interest. Since this compound is widely used for labelling DNA, a great deal of data is available on its radiotoxicity. For a review of this literature and a more detailed discussion, the reader is referred to specialized texts (Feinendegen, 1967), since the present report will only be limited to those aspects which most closely affect radiation protection.

#### 4.3.1 — Mutagenic effects

The beta radiation due to tritium incorporated into the genetic structures has a distinct mutagenic effect (Feinendegen, 1967). In the mammal, these effects have been studied on the mouse after the administration of tritiated thymidine in drinking water (Greulich, 1961). Over periods of time varying between 24 and 32 days (therefore in practice during the whole period of

gestation) mice undergoing this treatment received a total activity of 245-300  $\mu$ Ci. The progeny of the first mating, with males who had received 8-167  $\mu$ Ci over periods of 1-18 days, was phenotypically normal, whereas in subsequent matings, either between the same treated animals or between treated and normal animals, a significant decline was observed in the reproductive capacity owing to an increase in neonatal mortality rate, foetal resorption and male sterility. Subsequent crosses between apparently normal first-generation animals also showed a decrease in the reproductive capacity due to a high neonatal mortality rate.

In an attempt to establish a relationship between the frequency of lethal mutations and tritium content of the sperms (Bateman and Chandley, 1962), tritiated thymidine was administered by injection to male mice which were then mated when the number of labelled sperms reached the maximum. Based on the frequency of intrauterine death and autoradiographic data, it was calculated that 25 grains/sperm (after an exposure period of three weeks) were necessary to produce a dominant lethal mutation.

Apart from the literature referred to above, which relates essentially to dominant lethal mutations, no other data are available on specific point mutations in the mammal or other information on genetic mutations caused by tritium in any form.

#### 4.3.2 — Chromosomal aberrations

The first information on the induction of chromosomal aberrations in human leukocytes treated with 1  $\mu$ Ci/ml of thymidine for 30 minutes was published by Bender *et al.* (1962). The value of this information today is more of a qualitative nature, since some aspects of a technical nature have since been recognized as invalid. Marin and Prescott (1964) studied chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster cells in culture exposed to tritiated thymidine at concentrations of 0.05-2.7  $\mu$ Ci/ml for 1 or 2 hours, to test the hypothesis that such exchanges are produced by the beta radiation of the isotope, and concluded that these aberrations do not depend on the radiation dose but are in most cases spontaneous events.

Other data gathered by Dewey et al. (1965) are reported in para. 4.4.

Chromosomal aberrations without any character of specificity have been described in the caryotype of human fibroblasts in culture following the incorporation of tritiated thymidine at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ Ci/ml of medium for 30 minutes (Ockey, 1967).

It can be concluded that exposure to concentrations of tritiated thymidine of the order of 1  $\mu$ Ci/ml is capable of inducing chromosomal aberrations in mammal cells, as has been shown after exposure to external sources. However, the significance of these aberrations, particularly *in vivo*, is not well-understood and we are faced with all the uncertainties involved in the interpretation of aberrations caused by external irradiation.

#### 4.3.3 — Cellular toxicity

Concentrations of tritiated thymidine in cultures of mammal cells exceeding  $0.02 \,\mu\text{Ci/ml}$  of culture medium for 24 hours reduce the cloning ability of the cell (Drew and Painter, 1959): under these conditions the  $D_{37}$  is approx.  $0.07\text{-}0.08 \,\mu\text{Ci/ml}$  when the duration of exposure does not exceed 30 minutes, much higher doses ( $2 \,\mu\text{Ci/ml}$ ) are apparently incapable of producing the same effect.

In lymphocyte cultures (Osgood, 1959), the toxic effect of tritiated thymidine (at a dose of  $1\,\mu\text{Ci}$ ) becomes manifest through a reduction in the number of cells and changes of their morphology. Similarly, the addition of tritiated thymidine to cultures of HeLa-S<sub>3</sub> cells alters the growth kinetics (Marin and Bender, 1963 a): in this case the D<sub>37</sub> is 0.21  $\mu\text{Ci/ml}$  for a treatment period of 15-16 hours.

The considerable variations in the reported concentration levels can be explained by the fact that the incorporation of tritiated thymidine into the DNA of the cells depends on the concen-

tration in the culture medium and on the exposure time but also, and perhaps critically, on the parameters of the mitotic cycle of the population under study (for example, total cycle length, relative length of S phase, etc.).

During in vivo tests to investigate the inhibition of cell proliferation, ascitic tumour cells were transplanted into the peritoneum of mice (Lisco et al., 1961 b): 48 hours after inoculation the animals received a total dose of tritiated thymidine of 0.1, 1.0 and 10.0  $\mu$ Ci/g of body weight over a period of 20 hours, the total dose being administered into 5 fractions. The growth of the tumour was inhibited in proportion to the dose and it was found that the effects of 10  $\mu$ Ci of tritiated thymidine per gram of body weight were the same as those obtained with an X-ray dose of 600-1000 rad.

The lethal effect of tritiated thymidine at high specific activity (6 Ci/mmol) and high concentrations (2 μCi/ml) has been used to obtain synchronization of cells in culture (Whitmore et al., 1965), but the data are not relevant to radiation protection, although they do confirm the lethal action of the compound. This lethal effect has also been demonstrated on bone marrow cells and tumour cells in vivo without particular specificity characteristics at doses of the order of 1-10 mCi/mouse administered in 6 injections over a period of 24 hours (Bruce and Meeker, 1965) and on bone marrow in vitro at doses of 100-600 μCi/ml for 20 minutes (Becker et al., 1965).

#### 4.3.4 — Organ and organism toxicity

In vivo experiments on the radiotoxicity of tritiated thymidine (Johnson and Cronkite, 1959) have shown that the survival of mouse spermatogonia is reduced at a dose of 1  $\mu$ Ci/g of body weight and that a dose higher than 5  $\mu$ Ci/g in the rat causes the appearance of pycnosis in the lymphocytes (Cronkite et al., 1962). Histological damage to the testes has also been reported in mice 145 days after they had received 167  $\mu$ Ci of tritiated thymidine over 18 days (Greulich, 1961).

Hepatic regeneration after partial hepatectomy has been used to study the radiotoxicity of this compound on organs (Grisham, 1960): by the analysis of three parameters (mitotic index, percentage of chromosome aberrations, increase in organ weight) it was found that tritiated thymidine at a dose of 1  $\mu$ Ci/g of body weight inhibits hepatic regeneration in the rat. At the same dose levels it interferes with the normal division kinetics of the hepatocytes (Post and Hoffman, 1965, 1967) and of rat intestinal cells (Post and Hoffman, 1968) by lengthening the S and  $G_2$  phases. Changes in the mitotic cycle have also been observed in spleen lymphocytes after the administration of 1-10  $\mu$ Ci/g (Post and Hoffman, 1961); the evolution of these changes was followed as a function of time, after various doses of tritiated thymidine.

Mouse bone marrow undergoes a partial loss of its capacity to repopulate the hematopoietic system of irradiated animals after doses above  $20 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$  of body weight (Smith *et al.*, 1962): it is nevertheless possible to cancel this effect by transplanting a greater number of cells, as is to be expected from our knowledge of the lethal effect of external irradiation on stem cells.

The continuous perfusion, over periods up to 18 days, of 864  $\mu$ Ci of tritiated thymidine per day per animal brings about morphological changes in rat marrow and gives a picture of medullar hypoplasia-aplasia (Calvo *et al.*, 1971).

Haas et al. (1971) recently studied the effects on rats of the perfusion of tritiated thymidine starting on the ninth day of pregnancy and continued until birth; the doses varied between a minimum of 72  $\mu$ Ci/day and a maximum of 1440  $\mu$ Ci/day per animal, with a wide range of intermediate doses. Only chromosome aberrations and a reduction in the number of oöcytes in newborn animals were found with doses up to 288  $\mu$ Ci. With progressively larger doses this treatment injured the bone marrow and caused serious malformations of the progeny; at the maximum dose the subject did not survive after the 12th day from the start of the treatment. All the effects described were in proportion to dose.

#### 4.3.5 — Delayed effects

In the case of tritiated thymidine, as with tritiated water, the available data are very poor. Post and Hoffman (1961) showed changes in the percentage of polyploid cells in rat liver following the endoperitoneal administration of  $2 \mu \text{Ci/g}$  of thymidine in 3-week old rats. With these animals, in which the percentage of polyploid cells increases with age, the percentage of polyploidy two weeks after treatment with thymidine reaches a level in the liver equal to that of untreated 2-year-old animals.

Treatment with tritiated thymidine (0.1-10  $\mu$ Ci/g of body weight) increases the incidence of spontaneous tumours in the mouse (Lisco et al., 1961 a; Baserga et al., 1966): at higher doses the life span is shortened and there is a higher incidence of tumours compared with lower doses. The more common tumours appeared to be less easily induced than the less common types in the particular strain of animal used. These effects are more readily produced when the animals are young and the dose is administered in several fractions.

Induction of lymphatic leukaemia in C57 BL mice following the administration of  $0.3 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$  has been reported by Mewissen (1965). In animals of the same strain the incidence of tumours was also increased significantly by doses of 0.3- $1.5 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$  in the newborn (Mewissen, 1969; Mewissen and Rust, 1971). It should also be noted that the strain of mice used in this research shows a particularly high incidence of spontaneous tumors. In contrast, Johnson and Cronkite (1966, 1967) were not able to produce variations in mortality rate or in the incidence of neoplasia in adult mice with doses between 1 and  $5 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$ .

In conclusion, there appears to be sufficient experimental evidence that doses of tritiated thymidine, corresponding to about  $0.1\text{--}1.0\,\mu\text{Ci/g}$  of body weight administered to young mice may produce an increase in the incidence of some types of tumours which can be experimentally observed. It is possible that these same doses are insufficient to produce this effect when administered to adult animals.

#### 4.4 — Comparison between the effectiveness of tritiated water and tritiated thymidine

In order to make the existing data more useful in practice and for a better understanding of the many problems discussed in section 5, a comparison between the effects produced by tritiated water and tritiated thymidine may be of value. The available data is, however, limited and difficult to correlate because different effects have been studied and these have been obtained under different experimental conditions, especially with respect to the time of exposure.

By adding increasing doses to HeLa cells in culture, Painter et al. (1958) found that equal indices of growth were obtained at concentrations of  $5 \,\mu\text{Ci/ml}$  of thymidine in the medium and  $5 \,\text{mCi/ml}$  of tritiated water. A comparison between these two treatments in inhibiting the division of intermediate spermatogonia in the mouse revealed a higher effectiveness for thymidine compared with water by a factor of approx. 4 (Lambert, 1969). The inhibition of antibody synthesis was used as an in vivo test for a comparative study of thymidine and water (Dutton, 1961): it was found that the dose of tritiated water required to obtain comparable effects was about 100 times greater than that of tritiated thymidine. Further confirmation of the higher toxicity of thymidine was found by Sanders et al. (1961), who put forward the hypothesis that the higher effectiveness of thymidine was due to mechanisms which were different from those of beta irradiation: it is known that non-radioactive thymidine causes cells to block at the beginning of the S phase. In a comparison carried out by Haas et al. (1971), based on various effects on organs and entire animals (cf. para. 4.3.4), the equal effect ratio of thymidine to water is about 10:1.

Completely different results were reported, however, by Dewey et al. (1965) in a comparison between various types of irradiation (tritiated water, tritiated thymidine, <sup>60</sup>Co gamma) in producing chromosomal aberrations in vitro in hamster cells. In this case tritium

radiation from thymidine was found to be less effective than tritium from water. According to Feinendegen (1967) the most likely explanation of this anomalous behaviour should be sought in non-uniform distribution of the tritium bound to water.

It can be concluded that, according to the end-points studied, the effectiveness of tritium administered thymidine is greater by factors varying between 10 or less and 1000.

#### 5 — DOSIMETRIC CONSIDERATIONS

The purpose of biological dosimetry is to measure with the greatest possible precision the amount of energy deposited by radiation in biological materials, so that the observed effects may be quantitatively related to this energy. The dosimetric problems can be very different depending both on the type and energy of radiation, and on the effects which are to be measured. Tritium is a rather special case, because of the low energy associated with its radiation and because of its complex distribution within the biological structures of higher organisms, including man. Some of the problems posed by tritium do not yet appear to have been satisfactorily settled, and any attempt to evaluate the current state of our knowledge is therefore difficult. The high rate at which new research reports are being published (some of them, however, in the form of abstracts or pre-prints) makes it unlikely that any such attempt may result in a complete and exhaustive review.

#### 5.1 — Applications of the general principles to tritium

In principle, tritium does not differ from all other radionuclides with respect to the general mechanisms of energy deposition in matter, and particularly in biological materials, following radioactive decay: the energy liberated by disintegration of the nucleus is transferred by the beta particle to the surrounding medium through the well known processes of ionization and excitation, resulting in free radicals formation, the breakage of chemical bonds, etc. It should also be expected that some of the overall observable effects might be attributable to atomic transmutation, that is to the fact that the helium atom produced by radioactive decay has still some recoil energy and its physico-chemical properties are completely different from those of tritium from which it had originated. In general terms, this phenomenon cannot be without consequences on the molecular structure of which tritium was a component.\*

As a first approximation it is therefore possible to apply to tritium all the principles and methods of calculation developed for radioactive emitters deposited within biological materials, about which a large body of literature is available (Attix and Tochilin, 1969). It is not within the scope of this report to present a detailed discussion, because some recent reviews are dealing specifically with tritium (Feinendegen, 1967), and because attention will be focussed to those problems that appear to be of particular interest from the viewpoint of radiation protection.

#### 5.1.1 — Fundamental dosimetric relationships

If we take, for example, the simplest case of a uniformly labelled isotropic substance, and assuming total absorption of the disintegration energy within the substance, the dose deposited by a beta emitter such as tritium is a function only of specific activity and mean disintegration

<sup>\*</sup> The problem of transmutation falls outside the scope of the present report, which is mainly concerned with aspects related to radiation protection. In fact, the relevant experiments have been carried out only in lower organisms, from which extrapolation cannot be justified at present. The reader is then referred to more detailed discussions of this particular problem (e.g., Feinendegen, 1967).

energy. Making suitable adjustments to the dimensions and units of measurement of the parameters, it is possible to use an equation of this type (Feinendegen, 1967):

$$D = \frac{3.7 \times 10^7 \times 3600 \times 1.6 \times 10^{-6} \times \overline{E}}{100 \times g}$$
 (5.1)

where

D =the absorbed dose in rad × mCi<sup>-1</sup> × h<sup>-1</sup>

 $3.7 \times 10^7$  = the number of disintegrations  $\times$  mCi<sup>-1</sup>  $\times$  sec<sup>-1</sup>

 $3600 = \text{the number of sec} \times \text{h}^{-1}$ 

 $1.6 \times 10^{-6}$  = the number of erg × MeV<sup>-1</sup>

 $\bar{E}$  = mean energy of the beta particle spectrum of tritium, in MeV

q =mass of the substance in g

 $100 = \text{conversion factor from } \text{erg} \times \text{g}^{-1} \text{ to rad.}$ 

The numerical value of  $\bar{E}$  is usually taken as 5.6-5.7 keV, and therefore the dose rate delivered by tritium at a concentration of 1 mCi×g<sup>-1</sup> is approx. 12.14 rad×h<sup>-1</sup> (see para. 2.1). Using other units it is simple to obtain the well-known value of 106 mrad×year<sup>-1</sup> ×  $\mu$ Ci<sup>-1</sup> × kg<sup>-1</sup>, or to calculate that for a dose of 1 mrad×year<sup>-1</sup> the concentration required in soft tissues is of 9.4 nCi × kg<sup>-1</sup>, which is also equivalent in current environmental protection jargon to 2940 TU, where one TU (tritium unit) corresponds to one atom of tritium in 10<sup>18</sup> atoms of hydrogen (Osborne, 1972).

#### 5.1.2 — Criteria for calculation of cumulative doses

Due to the high rate with which tritium is uniformly distributed throughout the free water in the organism, the concentration in urine at any given time is practically equal to the concentration of the radionuclide in the free water (see para. 3.2.1); by making a number of simple assumptions, it is therefore possible to estimate the dose rate delivered at the time of sampling from the urine concentration. It is sufficient to know the relative proportion of free water to the mass of the entire organism (Feinendegen, 1967) and to use a conversion factor between specific activity and dose of the type indicated above (see equation (5.1)). It is also possible to estimate the cumulative dose within a certain period, provided that the measurement of urine concentration relates to the beginning of the period under study and a reasonable estimate is made of the biological half-life of tritium for that period. This last point is very important because biological half-life is strangely dependent on the time elapsed after a single intake and, in the case of chronic administration, on the length of the period of contamination (see para. 2.3). For cumulative doses deposited over relatively long times more complex calculation models are required which make use of all currently available data on the metabolism of tritium in mammals, and particularly in man. These models are based on further assumptions of numerical values to be given to some physiological parameters which at present are not completely known (for example, the relative dimensions of compartments with widely different binding capacities for tritium). One of these models was developed by Woodard and Harley (Woodard, 1970), dealing mainly with the problem of estimating the contribution to the total cumulated dose due to the tritium which is 'combined' with the tissues, i.e. the tritium which has the longest biological half-life (of the order of hundreds of days in man; see para. 3.3.2). The model is valid only for acute intake of tritium in the form of tritiated water (regardless of the intake route) and in all cases assumes a uniform distribution of the tritium, excluding concentration factors in particular organs and tissues, even over long periods. In applying such a model to an actual case, however, the authors made assumptions regarding the amount of tritium present in the various tissues and fluids on the basis of data contained in the literature, and these assumptions were incorrect. This was printed out by Osborne (1972, and personal communication), and the conclusions reached in the Woodard report must therefore be rejected. Bennett (1972) recently published a complete revision of the model, together with calculations based on more accurate estimates. His report states that, assuming biological half-lives 9, 30 and 450 days (in a three-compartment model), the resulting total tissue dose is 84 mrad/mCi of intake. 84% of this dose is due to tritium which remains in the form of tritiated water in the free body water, the remaining 16% being represented by tritium 'combined' with the tissues. It is very important to note how this total dose appears to be distributed in time: 50% is deposited within 11 days after intake and 90% within 200 days; the remainder (10%) may be regarded as an 'infinite dose'. It can be seen that the relative contribution to the total dose due to 'combined' tritium is not large, but it is not insignificant and is highly diluted in time.

#### 5.1.3 — Criteria for calculation of permissible maximum concentrations

Complex models based on similar concepts have been used to determine maximum permissible levels for exposure of the whole body and maximum permissible concentrations of tritium in air and water for exposed workers (ICRP, 1959, 1968). In these cases, however, the basic methodology is more complicated since ICRP (and also the other national and international agencies) introduces further correction factors into the calculations. These factors must make allowance for at least: (1) considerations relating to individual organs, e.g. in cases in which it is necessary to apply the concept of 'critical organ', or individual parts of the body specifically related to internal contamination; (2) considerations of relative biological effectiveness, where doses are expressed in units of equivalent dose, i.e. in rem and not in rad; (3) considerations which make allowance for the non-uniform distribution of the radionuclide. In the case of tritium, the following numerical values have been used since the original calculations made by Pinson and Langham (1957), which have been adopted in principle by the ICRP: about 43 kg for the mass of the compartment of interest (corresponding to about 62% of the weight of an average man weighing 70 kg; this fraction represents the 'total free water' in which the tritium is considered to be uniformly distributed); an RBE factor of 1.7; a non-uniform distribution factor equal to unity, i.e. the distribution of the radionuclide is considered to be uniform both at the macroscopic (organ) and at the microscopic level. Using these criteria and these numerical assumptions, it can be estimated that 1 mCi of tritium delivers in man a dose of the order of 5 rem/year or 0.1 rem/week, which corresponds to the present maximum permissible dose for exposed workers (ICRP, 1966).

At this dose level, and by using reasonable numerical values for the various physiological parameters involved in the intake and excretion mechanisms (see section 3), it is possible to determine the maximum permissible concentrations in air and water for exposed workers (ICRP, 1959; Osborne, 1972).

The dose estimates referred to above have been calculated with sufficient accuracy for the purposes of radiation protection. Each of the numerical values used for all the parameters required in the calculations represents a reasonable average estimate, but it should be recalled that in practice these values are variable. The empirical approach is however still valid for these purposes, considering the continuing progress made by research in the refinement of the estimates. A typical example is the quality factor to be adopted for low-energy beta emitters, including tritium; the ICRP recently reduced this factor from 1.7 to 1.0, '... after having considered the physical and biological data relating to this problem, and having concluded that a unit value is justifiable within the limits of accuracy required for the purposes of radiological protection' (Sowby, 1969).

#### 5.2 — Special problems posed by tritium

Mention has already been made of the physical characteristics of tritium radiation and the special role played by this radionuclide in the economy of living organisms as an isotope of

hydrogen (see sections 2 and 3). These characteristics make tritium a special case also in the matter of dosimetric problems. The general principles set out in para. 5.1, and the estimates derived from equations of the type given as (5.1) are based on simplified approximations. For example, equation (5.1) is applicable in all circumstances, provided that the mean range of the particles is small compared with the dimensions of the irradiated 'target', and that the proportion of energy dissipated as 'bremsstrahlung' is negligible. These two further assumptions are certainly valid on a macroscopic scale, but the first is no longer valid on a microscopic scale where the general concept of 'relevant organ or tissue' must be replaced by that of 'biological structure', damage to which is responsible for the final effect. At this level it is also necessary to take into account the following facts:

- (1) the beta particles of tritium produce relatively dense ionization;
- (2) the volume of biological material affected by the disintegration of one atom of tritium corresponds to a sphere with a diameter which, in 99% of cases, does not exceed 5 μm, since less than 1% of the beta particles of tritium have a mean range between 2.5 and 6 μm in material having a density approaching unity. In 80% of disintegrations this diameter reduces further to 2 μm. Dimensions of this order are comparable to or less than those of sub-cellular structures, particularly the nuclei of the majority of animal cells;
- (3) the ionization density varies along the trajectory of the tritium beta particles, with consequent variations in the linear energy transfer. This parameter, which is measured in radiobiological dosimetry in keV/µm, clearly loses much of its usual significance in view of the short trajectories of tritium beta particles;
- (4) the concept of relative biological effectiveness and the associated numerical value must therefore be accurately defined to be of any dosimetric or radiobiological significance;
- (5) in addition to these factors, which can be defined as contributing to a 'microscopic physical heterogeneity' of the dose, there are also extremely important factors of 'microscopic biological heterogeneity' due to possible differences in tritium concentration in particular sub-cellular components (nucleus) or even molecular components (nucleic acids). These depend on the intake route, the chemical form in which the tritium is ingested and the subsequent chemical and metabolic processes within the organism, as referred to in section 3. This biological heterogeneity at the microscopic level will clearly cause substantial variations in the type of structure subjected to irradiation (and thus radiosensitivity), and is therefore of fundamental importance in defining the 'quality factor' or relative biological effectiveness;
- (6) the possible effects of transmutation in relation to those due to irradiation, and particularly in relation to problems of non-uniform biological distribution of the dose.
  In the following sections we shall attempt to give a general summary of the problems which have not yet been satisfactorily solved at present.

#### 5.2.1 — Linear energy transfer

A tritium beta particle of mean energy loses its 5.6-5.7 keV over a trajectory of approx.  $0.9 \,\mu m$  in biological materials. It can be seen from elementary notions about the structure of living material that these dimensions are within the range of sub-cellular organelles, where there are distinct variations in the density of the irradiated biological structures (Goodheart, 1961).

Apelgot and Duquesne (1963) calculated values of LET along the tritium beta trajectory and found that in the first 0.1  $\mu$ m approx. 3.9 eV/nm are transferred, whereas at the end of the trajectory the LET rises to 5.5 eV/nm. In the case of particles of maximum energy, the initial value falls to about one-third. As stated above, the application of LET values at these submicronic scales is of doubtful significance; furthermore, the decision whether these variations

have dosimetric significance, in the sense that they are capable of influencing the quality factor, requires the solution of complex problems of biophysics and microdosimetry which have not yet been practically approached. This research becomes even more difficult when one considers the small number of measurable biological effects which could be used to detect such minute differences. Therefore it appears reasonable to assume that, at least for the present time, the variations in density of living material and the variations in LET can be disregarded, particularly for estimates of doses of interest in radiation protection. The fact remains that tritium produces radiation of greater ionization density in the immediate vicinity of the nuclide than other beta-decay isotopes; we do not know, however, whether this can affect radiotoxicity.

The Apelgot and Duquesne (1963) calculations are nonetheless interesting if they are considered in terms of the number of pairs of ions produced along the trajectory of a particle of mean energy; this number is within the range 90-200 in  $0.9 \, \mu m$  of water (which can be reduced to approx.  $0.7 \, \mu m$  in pure DNA, in view of the different electron density and the different energy level needed to produce one pair of ions). It is a basic statement in radiobiological literature (Lea, 1956) that the frequency of chromosome breakage is dependent, through complex mechanisms, on the ionization density, starting from a minimum of approximately ten pairs per  $\mu m$ . In spite of the considerable inaccuracy of these estimates, it is possible to conclude on a purely physical basis that chromosome breakage that is a well-defined biological damage, can result from a single disintegration of one atom of tritium by direct radiation action.

#### 5.2.2 — The concept of absorbed dose

Para. 5.1 showed how general methods of estimating dose can be applied to tritium, provided that one assumes an effectively uniform deposition of the nuclide. Feinendegen (1967) discussed in some detail the question whether 'microscopic physical heterogeneity' could significantly affect dose estimates, by critically reviewing the data available at that time. The importance of such question for the purposes of dosimetry and health protection is clearly due to the need to use the rad as the unit of absorbed dose (and therefore the rem, once the RBE has been established).

Tritium does not in principle differ from many other similar internal emitters, particularly those undergoing alpha-decay (for reasons due to the short mean range of the particles), but it does have the advantage of being easier to study, at least in the case of tritiated water or tritium which freely exchanges with hydrogen.

If the energy deposited by individual beta particles of tritium in an animal cell nucleus or in a bacterial cell is expressed in rad, the numbers obtained have no precise value and, by the very definition of rad, which is on a macroscopic scale cannot be used in practice. For example, a single beta particle of mean energy would deposit approximately 170 rad within a sphere of 1  $\mu$ m in diameter, the tritium disintegrating at the centre of this sphere (Oliver and Lajtha, 1960). In the case of a bacterium with a volume of 4.2  $\mu$ m<sup>3</sup>, uniformly tagged with tritium, each beta particle of mean energy would deliver a 'dose' of 14 rad (Apelgot and Duquesne, 1963), an estimate at least ten times lower than in the preceding case. Goodheart (1961) estimated that the 'mean' dose of radiation absorbed by cell nucleus 4  $\mu$ m in diameter is of the order of 0.27 rad/disintegration; this value is even smaller and is approaching the dose estimate obtained for uniform distribution.

Tritium ingested as tritiated water is distributed uniformly throughout the organism and follows the same pathways as water, exchanging readily with hydrogen, and moves freely into the various fluids and tissues, so that microdosimetric considerations as mentioned above should not have any value in practice. Therefore, in conditions of uniform deposition, all cells, especially their nuclei, are not in a situation which is substantially different from that of cells bombarded with secondary electrons from electromagnetic radiation. Considering that the deposition of energy is at random and if we disregard, as a first approximation, the biophysical considerations

discussed in para. 5.2.1 and the problem of the irradiated volume on a sub-micronic scale, the rad retains its full value and significance as a unit of absorbed dose. With the exception of Barber (1969) all the researchers cited in this section, even the most recent ones, accept this fundamental principle in practice.

Serious complications arise, however, when we attempt to refine the calculation of absorbed dose at the sub-micronic level to obtain results having both biological and purely physical significance; the same complications are bound to arise when the tritium is localized exclusively in the nucleus, for example after incorporation of tritiated precursors of DNA. If the mean range of the beta particles is of the same order of magnitude as the biological structures under irradiation, only part of the beta spectrum energy will be entirely absorbed within the structures themselves. It is therefore incorrect to use a mean beta spectrum energy in equations such as (5.1). The significant physical parameter is the mean spectrum of the absorbed energy, or 'mean absorbed energy' (Tägder and Scheuermann, 1970), and this appears to be the core of the problem.

The literature contains many reports of attempts to achieve a theoretical solution by means of calculation (Goodheart, 1961; Bond and Feinendegen, 1966; Feinendegen, 1967; Lambert, 1969; Ertl, 1970), using increasingly complex models and the most recent estimates of physical constants (such as those relating to Mozumder, 1969). A useful survey of calculation methods is also given by Tägder and Scheuermann (1970), who conducted experiments on plants (root tips of Vicia faba) to test the validity of numerical assumptions associated with the biological parameters necessary for the calculation. The most important conclusion drawn by these authors is that the different calculation methods yield differing estimates of the dose in the nucleus and these are all highly dependent on the dimensions of the biological target in question. It is therefore reasonably clear that the problem which has been most satisfactorily solved so far is only that of estimating the proportion of the dose which escapes from the edge of the nucleus ('edge effect'; see Goodheart, 1961; Robertson, cited by Feinendegen, 1967; Ertl, 1970). Some autoradiographic evidence would suggest a possible non-homogeneous deposition of tritium within interphase nuclei and along metaphase chromosomes, but these observations do not seem to account for, nor contribute to the differences in the dose estimates. To the best of the present knowledge, no information are available on some very peculiar cases, such as the dose deposition from tritium incorporated mainly in nucleoli from tritiated precursors of RNA.

From the relatively large amount of data reported by all previously mentioned papers, mostly based on theoretical calculations, it would appear that the problem of choosing between the concept of 'mean spectrum energy' and that of 'mean absorbed energy' is still far from being solved. On the other hand it is a little surprising to see that such complex and difficult attempts at theoretical calculations have not yet stimulated similar attempts at any direct experimental verification. This does not imply that some sort of 'biological dosimetry' is suggested here, but merely that empirical approaches might be sometimes useful with the aid of suitable biological materials and end-points, and of conventional external radiation for which accurate dosimetry is available. Tägder and Scheuermann, for example, have calculated average dose estimates to the cell nuclei of root tips of *Vicia* under very well defined and reproducible conditions of labelling with tritiated thymidine; it should not be difficult to expose the same material under the same conditions to accurately measured concentrations of tritium as tritiated water and to external electromagnetic radiation, eventually comparing results of biological relevance, such as growth inhibition, chromosome aberrations, etc.

A completely different approach was adopted in recent calculations by Dugan and Ice (1971) and Dugan (personal communication, 1972) for the case of tritiated thymidine, in the attempt of considering the specific of incorporation of tritium into DNA and with the aim of obtaining dose estimates which could be practically used in the event of accidental contamination. This approach is perhaps too simple, because it attempts to extend the application of a general

formula of the (5.1) type, which is valid on the macroscopic level, from the entire organism to the organ (testis), the nucleus and eventually to the DNA molecule. The required numerical values were obtained experimentally in animals by measuring both the tritium concentration and the effective half-lives at each of four levels of biological organization, within 90 days after intake. This attempt would not appear to be completely acceptable without discussion. The model ignores, for example, all the considerations of microdosimetry mentioned in the preceding sections which are essential at the molecular level; in addition, an 'inhomogeneity factor' of 0.20 was introduced (for DNA only) based on widely divergent considerations derived from data in the literature, and not all of these are clearly justified. After the application of this factor, the dose in the DNA is expressed in units of equivalent dose (rem), so that this should be expected to include also an evaluation of Relative Biological Effectiveness. Nevertheless, it is interesting to note that the dose in the nucleus and the dose in the DNA expressed in rad are of the same order of magnitude (44-54 rad), whereas both are 20-80 times greater than those estimated for the entire organism and for the critical organ in question (testis). It is therefore clear that, if such great differences in the estimates reflect real differences in the absorbed doses, an empiricalexperimental approach of the type used by Lambert and Clifton (1968) and Lambert (1969, 1971) is certainly feasible, provided that it is extended to cover times of exposure to the nuclide of the order of those considered by Dugan and Ice (1971).

#### 5.2.3 — Relative Biological Effectiveness

Since the value of RBE is given by the ratio between the dose due to tritium and that from a standard radiation to obtain the same biological effect, all the difficulties discussed in the preceding paragraph are also encountered here. In order to place the problem of RBE of tritium in the correct perspective, it would be reasonable to keep the case of tritium ingested as tritiated water distinct from the case of tritium incorporated by tagged molecules or molecules which do not easily exchange with hydrogen.

In the first case (see para. 5.2.2) we have seen that the dose estimate calculated at the macroscopic level can be expressed in rad for effects which involve the entire organism and we do not therefore encounter any particular problems. In addition, it is possible to establish this RBE for tritiated water by experimental means and this was attempted in the 1950's when relatively low values of the order of 1.4-1.7 were found. Although these values were determined some time ago, they are still cited in the recent works on the subject (Bond and Feinendegen, 1966; Feinendegen, 1967; Vennart, 1968; Vaubert and Bittel, 1970; Bond, 1971; Osborne, 1972). It has already been seen that these values have recently been reduced to 1 on the basis of evaluations made by the ICRP (Sowby, 1969). More recent authors appear to be substantially in agreement with these evaluations and the problem is not considered to be of great relevance for health protection (Osborne, 1972). Problems of variation in linear energy transfer do not appear to be significant in this field (see para. 5.2.1), and the possible effect of inhomogeneity in the distribution of water at the endocellular level is not considered on the argument that water content and RBE would in any case be in inverse correlation (Osborne, 1972). Nevertheless, one must recognize that there is no recent experimental data which might be desirable at the present time. This is especially true because the research by the Moskalev group (Moskalev et al., 1970 a and b), which give estimates of relative biological effectiveness of around 2 and show variations in sensitivity between species (Zhuravlev, 1971), are at present available only as summaries.

The case of tritium which, regardless of the mechanism of intake, is subsequently incorporated preferentially in particular cells or molecules, is completely different. In this case the problems of evaluating the dose become critical and, since the problem of microdosimetry has not yet been solved, the same can be concluded for the relative biological effectiveness. It is surprising that the recent literature contains sophisticated work on dosimetry relating to tritium localized in the nucleus (see para. 5.2.2), whereas the problem of Relative Biological Effectiveness

has been practically ignored at the experimental level. A few works are available on the relative toxicity of the various tritiated precursors of nucleic acids (especially thymidine: Lambert, 1969, 1971), but the variability of results does not make it possible to draw definitive conclusions.

Unfortunately, the experimental conditions which make use of specific precursors of DNA, although they may be considered as fairly well controlled for research purposes (Feinendegen, 1967; Payne and Shaw, 1971), cannot be regarded as having direct relevance to public health at the population level, because in the latter instance the exposure conditions are so widely different. In any case, it appears to be far more important to determine the effectiveness of the tritium which is stably incorporated in the tissues, either long times after acute exposure or during chronic exposure. It is therefore not only necessary to refine the dose estimate, but also to confirm a biological effectiveness close to unity for the tritium which is taken in from the environment essentially in the form of tritiated water and characterized by half-lives of the order of hundreds of days (see para. 3.3). It should be noted that greater interest is now being taken in this fraction of the incorporated tritium in determining its endocellular and molecular localization (Hatch and Mazrimas, 1972) and in estimating the doses deposited by it (Bennett, 1972).

#### 6 — CONCLUSIONS

Considerable difficulty is encountered in critically evaluating the data in the literature in order to draw conclusions which have some relevance to public health protection. In this chapter we shall first examine the applicability and the completeness of the data for the purposes of health protection and then indicate further points on which more data would be useful in formulating a final judgement in areas where we have little knowledge, if any.

#### 6.1 — The risk of tritium contamination

There are clearly several angles from which this problem can be approached. There is, above all, a general problem regarding the tritium levels existing at present in the biosphere and the estimates of possible future levels, based on the various available assumptions. Secondly, it is clear that the various paths of tritium contamination are of different significance for public health. It is also necessary to discuss existing information on tritium metabolism in mammals and the associated doses. Finally, one should consider the toxic levels for various effects to see how these compare with existing and foreseeable future tritium levels, and how the currently accepted levels of contamination compare with toxic and actual levels.

#### 6.1.1 — Current tritium levels and future production

The tritium measured at present in the biosphere at ground level in the northern hemisphere are of the order of 100 TU. Since it has been calculated that 1 TU is capable of giving a dose to the whole body equivalent to approx. 0.34  $\mu$ rem/year (Osborne, 1972), the current dose is of the order of 34  $\mu$ rem/year. If this dose is compared with an average limiting dose for the population at large of 170 mrem/year (NCRP, 1971)\* it is simple to deduce that current tritium dose is lower by a factor of approx.  $5 \times 10^3$ . Estimates regarding the production of tritium in Western Europe are substantially in agreement (ENEA, 1971).

<sup>\*</sup> Since the ICRP does not have any accurate information on the maximum permissible dose for the entire population, it is justifiable in individual cases to work on a dose of 5 rem over 30 years, which is valid for genetic damage.

As regards the future, it is thought that a controlled discharge of tritium from reactor systems such as to maintain the total activity of tritium at 200 MCi could lead to a dose of 3-15 µrem/year (Osborne, 1972). Other estimates (Jacobs, 1968) which calculate doses of the order of one µrem/year for 10<sup>8</sup> Ci of tritium are in fairly close agreement. It must, however, be taken into account that if some forecasts of the development of major sources of tritium (Cowser and Tadmor, 1968) are fulfilled, further increases by a factor of about 10 in terms of tritium dose could be hypothesized.

It is not unreasonable therefore to envisage some control of the tritium released by nuclear installations from now onwards, in order to prevent tritium contamination of such a degree that the dose delivered by it would amount to a disproportionately large fraction of the total maximum permissible dose. It does appear possible to exercise this type of control under even the most extreme conditions (real or hypothetical) foreseeable, on the basis of present technological knowledge and on the basis of the future expansion in the production of tritium from energy-producing plants using controlled fusion (Rose, 1970) which are, in any case, very much in the future.

It therefore appears justifiable to draw the following conclusions:

- (1) Tritium contamination of the biosphere is significant for radiation protection in view of the ubiquity of the nuclide and of the number of persons exposed.
- (2) Since the beginning of the nuclear age, the total amount of tritium present on the earth has increased by ten times without control, principally due to the production by nuclear weapons.
- (3) At present the contribution made by tritium to the total dose can be estimated between one ten-thousandth and one-thousandth of the dose due to natural sources, and is therefore not particularly alarming.
- (4) Since, however, it is unacceptable that a disproportionately high fraction of the maximum permissible dose of a 170 mrem/year should be taken up by tritium, controls and safeguard mechanisms should be envisaged in order to keep the total of tritium released by nuclear installations at reasonable levels. This control is technologically feasible.

#### 6.1.2 — Paths of contamination

The available data, relating to both animals and man, on the intake of tritium under the form of tritiated water by the percutaneous, pulmonary and intestinal routes have now reached a fairly refined stage of development. The intake of gaseous tritium does not appear to be an insuperable problem or one significantly different from tritiated water. In addition, the intake of gaseous tritium is not a very common route of contamination, it is limited to a few accidental cases, and does not result in the ingestion of radioactivity in very large amounts.

In very general terms, none of the forms of contamination described above appears to pose serious problems at current contamination levels; at present, the risk is limited to groups of workers who are occupationally exposed and all of these together do not exceed some tens of thousands. In relative terms, it seems unlikely that the problem will become significantly more serious, in view of the foreseeable development of nuclear energy and its applications in the industrial and medical field and of the increase in the number of persons employed in these activities.

However, there is no sufficiently accurate or generally applicable information available on one form of contamination which may have much greater potential significance if the levels of water or soil contamination should greatly exceed the present levels: we refer to the tritium contamination by the ingestion of foods produced in contaminated environments or of drinking water contaminated with tritium. Without considering a general increase in fall-out due to military events, which would obviously affect the whole world population, it is nevertheless conceivable that large groups of people could be exposed as a result of major accidental contamination or following an uncontrolled increase in intentional discharges into river basins, for example. It must be pointed out, however, that an increase over current contamination levels exceeding some tens of nCi/litre is not likely in the immediate future, and this level is about five orders of magnitude lower than those which have been experimentally shown to be toxic. In the almost complete absence of information on this point, however, it may be useful to undertake research to define the possibility of variations in the T/H ratio from a given environmental T/H ratio for particular food chains which are of interest to man. This research could at least indicate whether the current criteria for establishing environmental contamination levels and doses to the population on the whole are reasonable.

#### 6.1.3 — Tritium metabolism

As regards the tritium pathways within the organism after intake, the basic physiological parameters necessary for the estimates of the dose received by man have been measured experimentally and are fairly well-established. This applies to the balance for the tritium intake by the various routes, the exchange and equilibrium times in the various tissues and fluids involved, the excretion kinetics and their temporal and quantitative parameters through the various routes. These data, together with basic dosimetric relationships discussed in para. 5.1.1, provide a sufficiently accurate estimate of the dose accumulated over short periods after acute exposure and also make it possible to derive estimates of maximum permissible tritium concentration for radiation protection purposes.

However, we do not have detailed information on the doses received in individual organs by tritium deposited in tissues, especially the slow-renewing ones, and it is therefore necessary in this case to extrapolate criteria from animals to man. The lack of information is due to two factors, the first being the absence, even in experimental animals, of accurate data to correlate the population kinetics of the various organs with the half-life of the incorporated tritium. A better knowledge of these phenomena is desirable because the dose due to tritium incorporated in the tissues may show up, eventually as the component of greatest radiobiological importance in the entire dose, whether received by acute or chronic exposure (see para. 5.2.2). Secondly, the scarcity of radiological data may be attributed to the dosimetric difficulties discussed in paragraph 5.2. These do not yet allow a clear picture of dose-effect relationships because there are no general criteria for calculating doses in the biological structures of importance for the most significant radiobiological effects. It seems unlikely that the formulation of refined mathematical calculation models will be able to resolve this problem unless their results are accompanied by sufficiently controlled biological tests having more relevance to radiological protection.

#### 6.1.4 — Radiotoxicity

The harmful effects of tritium administered as tritiated water or tritiated thymidine have been adequately demonstrated at various levels of biological organization. However, the data available are of little use for public health protection because the effects measured are not of immediate practical application. For example, systematic studies of the lethal action of tritium in vitro and in vivo which are probably the most significant, even on a practical level, have only been conducted fragmentarily and without practical objectives.

As regards the toxicity of *tritiated water*, there is complete lack of information in the data examined in section 4 about the toxicity of this substance upon genetic structures, in causing either intergenic or intragenic mutations. Acute exposure to concentrations of tritiated water of the order of 0.1-1.0 mCi/ml or /g body weight inhibits the reproductive capacity of mammalian

cells *in vitro* and, mainly at higher dose levels, causes serious immediate somatic damage (bone-marrow failure). The existing data on delayed somatic damage are, of course, of an indirect nature and obtained from unsuitable experiments. It therefore appears reasonable to conclude that information on this subject is practically nonexistent. It would also appear that tritium concentrations capable of causing foetal lesions by treatment of pregnant animals are extremely low, of the order of 1-100 µCi/ml of body water.

Exposure of animals to *tritiated thymidine* in concentrations of approx.  $10 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$  of body weight for periods of the order of a few weeks results in the induction of genetic damage, both dominant and recessive; *in vitro*, the acute exposure of cells to doses of the order of  $1 \,\mu\text{Ci/ml}$  results in chromosome aberrations. Inactivation of cells *in vitro* has been reported at concentrations of  $0.1-10 \,\mu\text{Ci/ml}$  or /g, whereas the same effects *in vivo* require concentrations of  $5-500 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$ . Immediate somatic lesions occur at concentrations of approx.  $1 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$  (chronic exposure over several weeks) and delayed lesions occur after acute exposure (especially in young animals) to concentrations of  $0.1-10 \,\mu\text{Ci/g}$ . Foetal damage occurs when pregnant animals are treated with doses of the order of one  $\mu\text{Ci/g}$ .

It may be interesting to compare these concentrations with those measured at present in the biosphere and with the maximum permissible concentrations currently recommended by the ICRP (1959).

In the period July-September 1971, the mean tritium concentration in the drinking water in the United States was 0.2 nCi/l (Radiation Data and Reports, 1972). Using the equation suggested by Moghissi and Porter (1968) for the values recommended by the ICRU (1964), it is possible to estimate the radiation dose to man resulting from this tritium concentration. On the extreme assumption that the tritium concentration in all of the ingested water is equal to that found in drinking water and that the specific activity of body water is essentially the same as that of drinking water, one calculates a dose of 0.3 mrem/year, averaged over the whole population. This dose is approximately 0.2% of the proposed annual limit of 170 mrem. During the same period the maximum tritium concentration in surface waters in the United States was 3.9 nCi/l (Radiation Data and Reports, 1972). Measurements of tritium concentration in surface waters in various parts of Italy (Mastinu, 1972) gave mean values between 1 and 2 nCi/l, which can be compared with the maximum concentration of 30 µCi/l for individuals exposed at their places of work and 300 nCi/l in drinking water for the whole population, following the recommendations of the European Community (CNEN, 1967).

Therefore, the maximum permissible tritium concentrations for exposed workers are still four orders of magnitude greater than the concentrations generally observed, but this factor reduces to approximately two orders of magnitude or less when we consider the concentrations generally allowed for the population. Osborne (1972) made a detailed study of the problem of tritium intake by various paths, using the most recent estimates of the factors required for dose calculations. If one considers, for example, the case of chronic exposure from drinking water (which is a practical situation of considerable significance for public health), it can be concluded that the contamination limit proposed by the ICRP (1959) are more conservative by a factor of approx. 3 compared with the limits considered by Osborne.

At the present time, the problem is not so much one of further refining calculations of the type described above, but of establishing, on the basis of the available radiotoxicity data already discussed in detail but above all of the information not yet available, whether the currently proposed body burden and concentration levels should be regarded as in any way over-generous. In spite of the indications to the contrary made by some experts (Auxier, 1971), a more thorough discussion, possibly accompanied by reconsideration of these limits may be desirable in the particular case.

#### 6.2 — The needs for future research

Although the points listed below have already been mentioned in the main body of this report, it may be useful to list separately the research topics which appear to be most interesting at the present time in order to fill in the gaps in our existing knowledge.

- (1) It is important to study a number of food chains affecting man to determine whether tritium concentration exhibits any unusual behaviour in the various links of the chains.
- (2) Because the tissue dose levels are dependent on the concentration of tritium bound to the various organic components, it is of vital importance for the correct estimation of these doses to have more information about that fraction of tritium associated with cellular components having a long half-life; more information on the proportion of tritium associated with those biomolecules, such as DNA, which are most probably the radiobiological targets for many effects seems particularly important. Within the framework of this research, greater standardization of techniques and a more accurate definition of terminology is also desirable.
- (3) We are not yet in a position to quantitatively compare the genetic effects of tritium decay in germ cells with the effects produced by external radiation sources. It is essential to obtain these data for mammalian species in order to evaluate the genetic risk, because extrapolation from simpler forms of life could be unjustified and dangerous.
- (4) It appears that delayed somatic effects have been largely neglected, especially in the case of tritiated water. No experimental work is available in which the problems of delayed damage have been examined by techniques which are acceptable for this type of work; on the contrary, owing to the inadequecy of methodologies and techniques, even the claims about the absence of effects appear often of little value.
- (5) The lack of careful analyses of radiobiological phenomena based on extensive dose-effect relationships is often found in the literature. This increases the difficulty of extrapolating the effects at the low dose levels and therefore of making any judgement about the conditions which are most significant for public health. It is suggested that future experimental work should give special emphasis to the effect of the low doses.

# EUR 5033 e

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

# RADIOTOXICITY OF TRITIUM IN MAMMALS

Critical analysis of the extrapolation to man of the results of tritium incorporation into animal tissues

bу

G. SILINI, P. METALLI and G. VULPIS

1973



BIBLIOGRAPHY

•

#### 7 - BIBLIOGRAPHY

- APELGOT S., et DUQUESNE M. (1963) Energie dissipée par le tritium dans des microorganismes. Int. J. Rad. Biol., 7:65.
- ATTIX F.H., and TOCHILIN E. (1969)
  Radiation dosimetry, 2nd ed., Vol. III.
  Academic Press, New York 1969.
- AURAND K., RUF M., SCHIKARSKI W., and SCHWIHACH J. (1971) Environmental exposure by radionuclides in gaseous and liquid effluents from nuclear power plants in the FRG. 4th Int. Conf. Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, Geneva 1971, paper 49/P/399.
- AUXIER J.A. (1971)

  The outery over exposure guidelines.

  Nuclear Safety, 12:456.
- BAINBRIDGE A.E. (1963)

  Tritium in surface waters of the North Pacific.
  Report NAS-NRC-1075.
- BARBER D.E. (1969)

  Maximum permissible concentrations for tritiated water and tritiated thymidine.

  Amer. Int. Hyg. Ass. J., 30:514.
- BASERGA R., LISCO H., and KISIELESKI W. (1966)
  Tumour Induction in Mice by Radioactive Thymidine.
  Radiation Res., 29:583.
- BATEMAN A.J., and CHANDLEY A.C. (1962)
  Mutations induced in the mouse with tritiated thymidine.
  Nature, 193:705.
- BECKER A.J., McCULLOCH E.A., SIMINOVITCH L., and TILL J.E. (1965)
  The effect of differing demands for blood cell production on DNA synthesis by hemopoietic colony-forming cells of Mice.
  Blood, 3:296.
- BENDER M.A., GOOCH P.C., and PRESCOTT D.M. (1962)
  Aberrations induced in human leukocyte chromosomes by Hlabeled nucleosides.
  Cytogenetics, 1:65.
- BENNETT B.G. (1972)

  The radiation dose due to acute intake of tritium by man.
  U.S.A.E.C. Report HASL-253.
- BOGEN D.C., HENKEL C.A., WHITE C.G.C., and WELFORD G.A.(1971)
  Tritium intake in New York city.
  Tritium Simposium, Las Vegas 1971.
- BOND V.P. (1971)

  Evaluation of potential hazards from tritiated water, in

"Environmental aspects of nuclear power stations", IAEA, Vienna, 1971.

BOND V.P., and FEINENDEGEN L.E. (1966)
Intranuclear <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine: dosimetric, radiobiological and radiation protection aspects.
Health Phys., 12:1007.

# BRAMATI L. (1964)

Production of tritium in nuclear reactors in "Seminaire sur la protection contre les dangers du tritium", La Vesinet, 1964.

Le Vesinet, S.C.P.R.I., p. 28.

BRUCE W.R., and MEEKER B.E. (1965)

Comparison of the sensitivity of normal hematopoietic and transplanted lymphoma colony-forming cells to tritiated thymidine.

J. Natl. Canc. Inst., 34:849.

BRUES A.M., STROUD A.N., and RIETZ L. (1952)
Toxicity of tritium oxide to mice.
Proc. Soc. Expl. Biol. Med., 79:174.

BUTLER H.L. (1962)

Observed effective half-life of tritium at the Savannah River Plant.

U.S.A.E.C. Report DP-831.

BUTLER H.L., and LEROY J.H. (1965)

Observations on the biological half-life of tritium. Health Phys., 11:283.

CAHILL D.F., and YUILLE C.L. (1970)

Tritium: some effects of continuous exposure in utero on mammalian development.
Radiation Res., 44:727.

CALVO W., FORTEZA-VILLA J., HAAS R.J., and HARRISS E.B.(1971) Studies on the radiotoxic effects of tritiated thymidine on adult rats. EUR 4830:493.

CHAMBERLAIN A.C., and EGGLETON A.E.J. (1962)
Washout of tritiated vapour by rain.
U.K.A.E.A. Report AERE-R-3940.

CHARAMANTHIEU A. (1968)

Le tritium en radioprotection. Rapport CEA-BIB-131.

CHARREAU C. et JACQUINOT L. (1967)

Etude au moyen de l'eau tritiée de la circulation de l'eau dans un sol sableaux du Sénégal, in "Isotopes and radiation techniques in soil physics and irrigation studies"

IAEA, Vienna 1967.

- C.N.E.N. (1967)
  - Direttive e raccomandazioni della Comunità Europea dell'Energia Atomica in materia di protezione dalle radiazioni ionizzanti.
- COLVIN M.C., and EVERTS J.M. (1971)
  Chromosomal changes in chinese hamster cells following cutaneous exposure to tritiated luminous compounds.
  Tritium Simposium, Las Vegas 1971.
- COREY J.C., and HORTON J.H. (1968)

  Movement of water tagged with <sup>2</sup>H, <sup>3</sup>H and <sup>18</sup>O through acid kaolinic soil.

  Sóil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc., 32:471.
- COWSER K.E., and TADMOR J. (1968)
  Kripton-85 and tritium in an expanding wordl nuclear power economy.
  Report ORNL-4316.
- CRAIG H. (1957)
  Distribution, production rate and possible solar origin of natural tritium.
  Phys. Rev., 105:121.
- CRONKITE E.P., FLIEDNER T.M., KILLMAN S.A., and RUBINI J.R. (1962)

  Tritium labeled thymidine (<sup>3</sup>HTdR): its somatic toxicity and use in the study of growth and potentials in normal and malignant tissue of man and animals, in "Tritium in the physical and biological sciences", vol. II, I.A.E.A., Vienna, 1962, p. 189.
- DE LONG C.W., THOMPSON R.C., and KORNBERG H.A. (1954) Percutaneous absorption of tritium oxide. J. Roentgen., 71:38.
- DEWEY W.C., HUMPHREY R.M., and JONES B.A. (1965)
  Comparison of tritiated thymidine, tritiated water, and 60Co gamma rays in inducing chromosomal aberrations.
  Radiation Res., 24:214.
- DREW R.M., and PAINTER R.B. (1959)
  Further studies on the clonal growth of HeLa-S<sub>3</sub> cells treated with H<sup>3</sup>-thymidine.
  Radiation Res., 11:535.
- DUGAN M.A. (1972)

A relationship of rems to <sup>3</sup>HTdR toxicity (comunicazione personale).

- DUGAN M.A., and ICE R.D. (1971)

  Dosimetry of orally administered tritiated thymidine.

  Tritium Symposium, Las Vegas 1971.
- DUTTON R.W. (1961)
  Importance of cell division for antibody production in an in vivo system.
  Nature, 192:462.

EIDINOFF M.L. (1963)

Tritium in biochemical studies.

Advan. Tracer Methodol., 1:222.

EIDINOFF M.L., PERRI G.C., KNOLL J.E., MARANO B.J., and ARNHEIM J. (1953)

The fractionation of hydrogen isotopes in biological systems.

J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75:248.

ELWOOD J.W. (1971)

Ecological aspects of tritium behaviour in the environment. Nuclear Safety, 12:326.

E.N.E.A. (1971)

Radioactive waste management practices in western Europe. Publ. O.E.C.D., 1971.

ERTL H.H. (1970)

Dosimetrie von inkorporiertem tritium und Jod-125. JUL-688-ME.

EVANS E.A. (1966)

"Tritium and its compounds". Butterworths, London, 1966.

EVANS A.G. (1967)

New dose estimates from chronic tritium exposures. Health Phys., 13:931 (abstr.).

FEINENDEGEN L.E. (1967)

"Tritium-labelled molecules in biology and medicine". Academic Press, New York, 1967.

FIREMAN E.L., and ROWLAND F.S. (1954)

Tritium and neutron production by 2.2 BeV protons on nitrogen and oxygen. Phys. Rev., 97:780.

FRACCARO M., MANNINI A., and TIEPOLO L. (1966)

Low dose continuous irradiation with tritiated water of mammalian cells in culture.

<sup>3</sup>rd Intern. Congress of Radiation Res., Cortina 1966.

FURCHNER J.E. (1957)

Relative biological effectiveness of tritium beta-particles and  $\text{Co}^{60}\text{-gamma-rays}$  measured by lethality in  $\text{CF}_1$  mice.

Radiation Res., 6:483.

FURCHNER J.D., STORER J., and LOTZ V. (1953)

The relative biological effectiveness of tritium in depressing iron uptake in rats.

U.S.A.E.C. Document LA-1544.

GOODHEART C.R. (1961)

Radiation dose calculation in cells containing intranuclear tritium.

Rad. Res., 15:767-773.

GREULICH R.C. (1961)

Deleterious influence of orally administered <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine on reproduction capacity of mice. Radiation Res., 14:83.

GRISHAM J.W. (1960)

Inhibitory effect of tritiated thymidine on regeneration of the liver in the young rat.

Proc. Soc. Expl. Biol. Med., 105:555.

HAAS R.J., SCHREML W., and CALVO W. (1971)
Studies on the radiotoxic effects of tritiated thymidine in developing rats. I. Morphological studies.
EUR 4830:494.

HANEY W.A., BROWN D.J., and REISENAUER A.E. (1962)
Fission product tritium in separation washes and in the ground water.
U.S.A.E.C. Report HW-74536:2.

HATCH F.T., and MAZRIMAS J.A. (1972)
Tritiation of animals from tritiated water.
Radiation Res., 50:339.

HATCH F.T., MAZRIMAS J.A., KORANDA J.J., and MARTIN J.R. (1970)

Ecology and radiation exposure of kangaroo rats living in a tritiated environment. Radiation Res., 44:97.

HIPPEL (von) P.H., and PRINTZ M.P. (1965)

Dynamic aspects of DNA structure as studied by hydrogen exchange.

Fed. Proc., 24:1458.

HUTCHIN M.E., and VAUGHAN B.E. (1965)
Skin contact transfer of tritium from brass.
Health Phys., 11:1047.

ICRP (1959)

Report of committee II on permissible dose for internal radiation. "ICRP publication 2, Pergamon Press, New York and London, 1959".

ICRP (1966)

Recommendations of the international commission on radiological protection. "ICRP pubblication 9, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1966".

ICRU (1964)

Recommendations of the international commission on radiological units and measurements, National Bureau of Standards handbook 85, 1964.

JACOBS D.B. (1968)

Sources of tritium and its behaviour upon release to the environment from nuclear power plants. U.S.A.E.C. Report TID-24635.

## JONES J.R. (1965)

- Tritium labelling of compounds: an assessment. Lab. Pract., 14:433.

JOHNSON H.A., and CRONKITE E.P. (1959).

The effect of <sup>3</sup>H-thymidine of mouse spermatogonia. Radiation Res., 11:825.

JOHNSON H.A., and CRONKITE E.P. (1966)

Effect of tritiated thymidine on mortality and tumour incidence in mice.

Radiation Res., 27:64.

JOHNSON H.A., and CRONKITET E.P. (1967)

The effect of tritiated thymidine on mortality and tumour incidence in mice.

Radiation Res., 30:488.

KAUFMAN S., and LIBBY W.F. (1954)

The natural distribution of tritium.

Phys. Rev., 93:337.

KORANDA J.J. (1965)

Preliminary studies on the persistence of tritium and <sup>14</sup>C in the pacific proving ground. Health Phys., 11:445.

KORANDA J.J. (1967)

Residual tritium at sedan crater. U.S.A.E.C. Report UCRL-70292.

KORANDA J.J., and Martin J.R. (1971)

The movement of tritium in ecological systems. Tritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

KOUTS H., and LONG J. (1971)

Tritium production in nuclear reactors.

Tritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

LAMBERT B.E. (1969)

Cytological damage produced in the mouse testes by tritiated thymidine, tritiated water and X-rays. Health Phys., 17:547.

LAMBERT B.E. (1971)

The biological effect of certain tritium labelled compounds related to dose.

Tritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

LAMBERT B.A., and CLIFTON R.J. (1967)

Radiation doses resulting from the administration of tritiated folic acid and tritiated water to the rat. Brit. J. Radiol., 40:56.

LAMBERT B.E., CLIFTON R.J. (1968)

Radiation doses resulting from the ingestion of tritiated thymidine by the rat. Health Phys., 15:3.

LEA D.E. (1956)

"Actions of radiations on living cells".

MOGHISSI A.A., and LIEBERMAN R. (1972)
Comparison between tritium concentrations in drinking water and body water.
Health Phys., 22:509.

MOGHISSI A.A., and PORTER C.R. (1968)
Tritium in surface waters in the United States, 1966.
Radiol. Health Data Rep., 9:337.

#### MOORE R. (1962)

A comparison of HTO in plasma and expired water vapour. Health Phys., 7:161.

MOSES V., and CALVIN M. (1959)
Photosynthesis studies with tritiated water.
Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 33:297.

MOSKALEV J.I., BULDAKOV L.A., LYAGINSKAYA A.M., OVCHARENKO E.P., and EGOROVA T.M. (1969)
Experimental study of radionuclide transfer through the placenta and their biological action on the fetus, in radiation biology of the fetal and juvenile mammal. U.S.A.E.C. Conf-690501:153.

MOSKALEV YU.I., ZHURAVLEV V.F., KAZBEKOVA D.A., ISTOMINA A.G., PETROVITCH I.K., BUSYGIN V.E., and GRAMMATIKATI V.S.(1970a) An experimental study of the relative biological effectiveness of tritium oxide. Radiobiologyia, 10:422.

MOSKALEV Yu.I., ZHURALEV V.F., ISTOMINA A.G., KALISTRATOVA V.S., KAZBEKOVA D.A., and PETROVICH I.K. (1970b)
The problem of relative biological efficacy of tritium oxide.

Gig. Sanit., 35:43 (NSA abstr.)

# MOZUMDER A. (1969).

Charged particle tracks and their structure. Adv. Radiat. Chem., 1:1

# NCRP (1971)

National Council on Radiation Protection and Measurements (U.S.A.), Basic radiation protection criteria. NCRP Report n. 39.

NELLIS D.O., HUDSPETH E.L., and MORGAN I.L. (1967) Tritium contamination in particle accelerator operation. PHS Publication 999 RH-29 Washington, 1967.

NIAS A.H.W., and LAJTHA L.G. (1964)
Continuous irradiation with tritiated water of mammalian cells in a monolayer.
Nature, 202:613.

# OCKEY C.H. (1967)

Chromatid aberrations resulting from  $^3\mathrm{H-thymidine}$  incorporation into early and late S periods in human fibroblasts.

Ing. J. Radiat. Biol., 13:479.

Cambridge University Press, 1956.

LESSLER R.M., GREEN J.B., and HOLZER R. (1971)
Tritium production in plowshare applications.
Tritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

## LIBBY W.F. (1962)

Tritium geophysics; recent data and results, in "Tritium in the physical and biological sciences", vol. I, I.A.E.A., Vienna, 1962, p. 5.

LISCO H., BASERGA R., and KISIELESKI W. (1961a)
Induction of tumours in mice with tritiated thymidine.
Nature, 192:571.

LISCO H., NISHIMURA E.T., BASERGA R., and KISIELESKI W.E. (1961b)

Effect of  $^{3}\mathrm{H-thymidine}$  on the growth of Ehrlich ascites tumour in vivo.

Lab. Invest., 10:435.

MARIN G., and BENDER M.A. (1963a) Survival kinetics of HeLa-S $_3$  cells after incorporation of H $^3$ -thymidine or H $^3$ -uridine. Intern. J. Radiation Biol., 7:221.

MARIN G., and PRESCOTT D.M. (1964)

The frequency of sister chromatid exchanges following exposures to varying doses of  $^3\mathrm{H-thymidine}$  or X-rays. J. Cell Biology, 21:159.

MARTIN J.R., and KORANDA J.J. (1972)
Biological half-life studies of tritium in chronically

exposed kangaroo rats. Radiation Res., 50:426.

MASTINU G. (1972)

Comunicazione personale.

MEWISSEN D.J. (1969)

Comparative late effects in mice following fast neutron external irradiation versus tritiated thymidine internal irradiation.

Proc. 1st Eur. Symp. Late Effects of Radiation, Casaccia (Rome) 1969.

MEWISSEN D.J., and RUST J.H. (1971)

Overall tumour incidence in C57 Black/6 mice treated with tritiated thymidine at birth. Tritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

MISKEL J.A. (1971)

Tritium produced in nuclear weapons. Tritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

MOGHISSI A.A., CARTER M.W., and LIEBERMAN R. (1971) Long-term evaluation: of the biological half-life of tritium. Health Phys., 21:57. OLIVER R., and LAJTHA L.G. (1960)
Hazard of tritium as a DNA label in man.
Nature, 186:91.

OSBORNE R.V. (1966)

Obsorption of tritiated water vapour by people. Health Phys., 12:1527.

OSBORNE R.V. (1972)

Permissible levels of tritium in man and the environment. Radiation Res., 50:197.

OSGOOD E.E. (1959)

In discussion of: leukocyte production and survival, in "kinetics of cellular proliferation (F. Stohlman, jr, Ed.) Grune and Stratton, New York, 1959".

PAINTER R.B., DREW R.M., and HUGHES W.L. (1958) Inhibition of HeLa growth by intranuclear tritium. Science, 127:1244.

PARKER F.L. (1958)

Radioactive tracers in hydrologic studies. Trans. Am. Geophys. Union, 39:434.

PAYNE J.T., and SHAW E.I. (1971)

A radiation effect from low doses of tritiated thymidine or X-rays.
Radiation Res., 47:123.

PERKINS R.W., and NIELSEN J.M. (1965)

Cosmic-ray produced radionuclides in the environment. Health Phys., 11:297.

PETERSON H.T., MARTIN E.J., WEAVER C.L., and HARWARD E.D. (1969)

Environmental tritium contamination from increasing utilization of nuclear energy sources, in "Environmental contamination by radioactive materials". I.A.E.A., Vienna, 1969, p. 35.

PINSON E.A. (1952)

Incorporation of tritium into the organic components of various tissues of the mouse.
U.S.A.E.C. Report LA-1467.

PINSON E.A., and ANDERSON E.C. (1950)

The absorption, distribution and excretion of tritium in man and animals.

U.S.A.E.C. Report LAMS-2946.

PINSON E.A., ANDERSON E.A., and LOTZ V. (1952)

The specific activity of tritium in the organic components of the skin and fat of man following 8 months chronic expo

sure to HTO in body fluids. U.S.A.E.C. Report LAMS-2946:78 (abstr.).

PINSON E.A., and LANGHAM B.E. (1957)

Physiology and toxicology of tritium in man.

J. Appl. Physiol., 10:108.

POST J., and HOFFMANN J. (1961)

Some effects of  ${}^3\mathrm{H}\text{-thymidine}$  as a DNA label in the rat liver.

Radiation Res., 14:713.

POST J., and HOFFMAN J. (1965)

Dose-dependent effects of H<sup>3</sup>-TdR as a DNA label on replication of liver cells in the growing rat. Radiation Res., 26:422.

POST J., and HOFFMANN J. (1967)

Late effects of  ${\rm H}^3{\text{-TdR}}$  as a DNA label on liver cell replication.

Radiation Res., 30:748.

POST J., and HOFFMANN J. (1968)

Early and late effects of  $H^3$ -TdR-labeled DNA on ileal cell replication in vivo. Radiation Res., 34:570.

POTTER G.D., VATTUONE G.M., and McINTYRE D.R. (1971) Metabolism of tritiated water in the dairy cow. Health Phys., 22:405.

RADIATION DATA AND REPORT (1972)

Tritium surveillance system, July-September, 1971, in "Radiation data and report. Data. Section II. Water; vol. 13 (4), p. 211, 1972.

RARRICK H.L. (1967)

Review of "Symposium on instrumentation, experience and problems in health physics tritium control". U.S.A.E.C. Report SC-DC-67-2191.

**ROETHER W. (1967)** 

Estimating the tritium imput to ground water from wine samples: ground water and direct run-off contribution to control european surface waters, in "Isotopes in hydrology".

I.A.E.A., Vienna, 1967, p. 73.

ROSE D.J. (1970)

Hazards of tritium from controlled fusion. Health Phys., 18:439.

RUSSELL W.L., and CUMMING R.B. (1971)
Genetic effects of tritium in mammals.
fritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

SADARANGANI S.H., SAHASRABUDHE S.G., and SOMAN S.D. (1971)
Tritium excretion in man undertropical conditions.
Tritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

SANDERS P.C., PETERSEN D.F., and LANGHAM W.H. (1961)
The influence of intranuclear irradiation on the growth of HeLa cells in agitated fluid medium.
Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., 95:969.

SANDERS S., and REINIG W.C. (1967)
Assessment of tritium in man.
U.S.A.E.C. Report Conf-670521-12.

SANIKIDZE V.D., and ROMANOVSKAYA L.L. (1970)
The water exchange of tritium oxide in the brain and some perypheral organs of rabbits.
Med. Radiol., 15:18.

# SEELENTAG W. (1971)

Two cases of death by panmyelophthisis after incorporation of tritium.

Tritium symposium, Las Vegas 1971.

SIRI W., and EVERS J. (1962)

Tritium exchange in biological systems, in "Tritium in the physical and biological sciences", vol. II, I.A.E.A., Vienna, 1962, p. 71.

SMITH W.W., BRECHER G., STOHLMAN F.R. (jr), and CORNFIELD J. (1962)

Toxicity of tritiated thymidine to bone marrow transplants. Radiation Res., 16:201.

SMITH T.E., and TAYLOR R.T. (1969)

Incorporation of tritium from tritiated water into carbohydrates, lipids and nucleic acids. U.S.A.E.C. Report UCRL-40781.

SNYDER W.S., FISH B.R., BERNARD S.R., FORD M.R., and MUIR J.R. (1964)
Urinary excretion of tritium following exposure of man

to HTO: a two-exponential model.
U.S.A.É.C. Report ORNL-3697:173.

SOWBY F.D. (1969)

Report on the 1969 meeting of the international commission on radiological protection (ICRP). Brit. J. Radiol., 42:558.

STEWART G.L. (1965)

Experiences using tritium in scientific hydrology. U.S.A.E.C. Report-Conf 650:652.

STEWART G.L., and WYERMAN T.A. (1970)

Tritium rainout in the United States during 1966, 1967 and 1968.

Water Resourc. Res., 6:77.

STORER J.B., PAYNE S.H., FURCHNER J.E., and LANGHAM W.H. (1957)

The relative biological effectiveness of various ionizing radiations in mammalian systems. Radiation Res., 6:188.

SUESS H.E. (1969)

Tritium geophysics as an international research project. Science, 163:405.

TAGDER K., and SCHENERMANN W. (1970).

Estimation of absorbed doses in cell nucleus after incorporation of  $^{3}\text{H-}$  or  $^{14}\text{C-labelled}$  thymidine. Radiation Res.,  $^{41:202}$ .

TERPILAK M.S., WEAVER C.L., and WIEDER S. (1971)

Dose assessment of ionizing radiation exposure to the population.

Radiological Health Data and Reports, 12:171.

THEODORSSON P. (1967)

Natural tritium in ground water studies in "Tsotopes in hydrology", I.A.E.A., Vienna, 1967.

THOMPSON R.C. (1951).

A review of deuterium tracer studies having a bearing on the problem of tritium oxide metabolism. U.S.A.E.C. Report HW-20735.

THOMPSON R.C. (1952)

Studies of metabolic turnover with tritium as a tracer. I. Gross studies in the mouse.

J. Biol. Chem., 197:81.

THOMPSON R.C. (1953)

Studies of metabolic turnover with tritium as a tracer.

II. Gross studies in the rat.

J. Biol. Chem., 200:731.

THOMPSON R.C., and BALLOU J.E. (1954a)

Studies of metabolic turnover with tritium as a tracer. III.comparative studies with tritium and deuterium.

J. Biol. Chem., 206:101.

THOMPSON R.C., and BALLOU J.E. (1954b)

Studies of metabolic turnover with tritium as a tracer. IV. Metabolically inert lipid and protein fractions from the rat.

J. Biol. Chem., 208:883.

THOMPSON R.C., and BALLOU J.E. (1956)

Studies of metabolic turnover with tritium as a tracer.

 $V.\$  The predominantly non-dynamic state of body constituents in the rat.

J. Biol. Chem., 223:795.

TRUJILLO T.T., ANDERSON E.C., and LANGHAM W.H. (1955)

Biological effects of inhalation of high concentrations of tritium gas.

U.S.A.E.C. Report LA-1986.

VAUBERT B., et BITTEL R. (1970)

Contribution a l'étude des nuisances relatives au tritium. Rapport CEA-BIA-182.

VENNART J. (1968)

The quality factor for low energy  $\beta$ -emitters. Health Phys., 14:541.

VENNART J. (1969)

Radiotoxicology of tritium and  $^{14}\text{C}$  compounds. Health Phys., 16:429.

WEAVER C.L., HOWARD E.D., and PETERSON H.T. (1969)
Tritium in the environment from nuclear power plants.
Public Health Report, 84:513.

WHEELER J.K., MOGHISSI A.A., REHNBERG B.F., and COLVIN M.C. (1972)

Comparison between the biological half-life of a tritiat ed luminous compound with that of tritiated water in rats and cats.

Health Phys., 22: 35.

WERBEL E.R. (1963)

Morphometry of the human lung. Academic Press, New York, 1963.

WHITMORE G.F., GULYAS S., and BOTOND J. (1965).
Radiation sensitivity throughout the cell cycle and its relationship to recovery, in "Cellular Radiation Biology", Williams and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, 1965.

WOODARD H.Q. (1970)

The biological effects of tritium. U.S.A.E.C. Report HASL-229.

WORMAN F.C.V. (1954)

The relative biological effectiveness of tritium beta rays in producing splenic and thymic weight loss in mice. U.S.A.E.C. Document LA-1641.

WYLIE K.F., BIGLER W.A., and GROVE G.R. (1963) Biological half-life of tritium. Health Phys., 9:94.

ZHURAVLEV V.F. (1971)

Comparative toxicity of tritium oxide for various types of animals.
Gig. Sanit., 36:49 (NSA abstr.).

#### NOTICE TO THE READER

All scientific and technical reports published by the Commission of the European Communities are announced in the monthly periodical "euro-abstracts". For subscription (1 year: B.Fr. 1025,—) or free specimen copies please write to:

Office for Official Publications of the European Communities Case postale 1003 Luxembourg 1 (Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg)

To disseminate knowledge is to disseminate prosperity — I mean general prosperity and not individual riches — and with prosperity disappears the greater part of the evil which is our heritage from darker times.

# SALES OFFICES

The Office for Official Publications sells all documents published by the Commission of the European Communities at the addresses listed below, at the price given on cover. When ordering, specify clearly the exact reference and the title of the document.

#### UNITED KINGDOM

H.M. Stationery Office P.O. Box 569 London S.E. 1 — Tel. 01-928 69 77, ext. 365

#### BELGIUM

Moniteur belge — Belgisch Staatsblad
Rue de Louvain 40-42 — Leuvenseweg 40-42
1000 Bruxelles — 1000 Brussel — Tel. 512 00 26
CCP 50-80 — Postgiro 50-80

Agency:
Librairie européenne — Europese Boekhandel
Rue de la Loi 244 — Wetstraat 244
1040 Bruxelles — 1040 Brussel

#### DENMARK

J.H. Schultz — Boghandel Møntergade 19 DK 1116 København K — Tel. 14 11 95

#### FRANCE

Service de vente en France des publications des Communautés européennes — Journal officiel 26, rue Desaix 75 732 Paris - Cédex 15 — Tél. (1) 578.6139 CCP Paris 23-96

#### GERMANY (FR)

Verlag Bundesanzeiger
5 Köln 1 — Breite Straße — Postfach 108 006
Tel. (0221) 21 03 48
(Fernscheiber: Anzeiger Bonn 08 882 595)
Postscheckkonto 834 00 Köln

#### GRAND DUCHY OF LUXEMBOURG

Office for Official Publications
of the European Communities
Boîte postale 1003 — Luxembourg 1
Tel. 49 00 81 CCP 191-90
Compte courant bancaire: BIL 8-109/6003/300

# IRELAND

Stationery Office — The Controller Beggar's Bush Dublin 4 — Tel. 6 54 01

#### ITALY

Libreria dello Stato Piazza G. Verdi, 10 00198 Roma Tel. (6) 85 08 CCP 1/2640

#### NETHERLANDS

Staatsdrukkerij- en uitgeverlijbedrijf Christoffel Plantijnstraat 's-Gravenhage — Tel. (070) 81 45 11 Giro 42 53 00

#### UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

European Community Information Service 2100 M Street, N.W. Suite 707 Washington, D.C. 20 037 — Tel. 296 51 31

#### SWITZERLAND

Librairie Payot 6, rue Grenus 1211 Genève — Tel. 31 89 50 CCP 12-236 Genève

#### SWEDEN

Librairie C.E. Fritze
2, Fredsgatan
Stockholm 16
Post Giro 193, Bank Giro 73/4015

#### SPAIN

Librerla Mundi-Prensa Castello, 37 Madrid 1 — Tel. 275 51 31

#### OTHER COUNTRIES

Office for Official Publications
of the European Communities
Boite postale 1003 Luxembourg 1
Tel. 49 00 81 CCP 191-90
Compte courant bancaire: BIL 8-109/6003/300

OFFICE FOR OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

Boite postale 1003 — Luxembourg 1 6301